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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B RE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
HE12A831BLLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

2022%F 202148 20204 20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FHT FHT FHT

Revenue s 408,572 362,513 259,314 352,937 371,883

Income tax expense FrisfiF X (6,218) (6,270) (3,145) (11,434) (8,020)

Profit for the year 35 F 12,558 14,984 1,647 26,482 33,735
Profit for the year attributable to ~ ANARIEA A

owners of the Company FE(EF AR 12,558 14,984 1,647 25,331 31,940

As at 31 December
M12831H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

20224 20214 20204 20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET FHET FHET FHT

Total assets BERE 395,067 401,028 361,692 286,400 270,846

Total liabilities BEeHE 155,807 151,362 125,566 142,430 154,130
Equity attributable to owners of ViN/NETE7Z =N

the Company FE(L R 239,260 249,666 236,126 143,970 116,716
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group” or “Cirtek”), | would like to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

In 2022, novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") continued to wreak havoc with
the global economy. Although the pandemic was brought gradually under
control in the second half of the year, and society was making its way
back to normal, the global market remained burdened by uncertainties
such as tense geopolitical situations, inflationary spike, disrupted supply
chain, increased raw material cost and discouraged global economic
performance caused by factors such as rate hike implemented by central
banks of various countries, resulting in the obstruction to the recovery of
the global market, as well as affecting consumer sentiment and market
needs, thus bringing forth challenges to manufacturing industries across
the world, including manufacturers of apparel labels and trim products.

During the Reporting Period, the economies of the Group's major
markets, such as those in European countries and America, receded
due to rate hike and the consumer sentiment in those markets was
dampened due to inflation. In addition to the foregoing, China had
implemented stringent pandemic control policies, including lockdown
and quarantine measures. As a result, the apparel market and
manufacturing industries from all over the world faced downward
pressure, and we were no exception. In spite of that, the Group had
been carrying out effective business strategies over the past years,
and had laid a solid foundation, which allowed us to be resilient and
flexible amidst the difficult situation and to grasp opportunities when
facing challenges, whereas a year-on-year growth in revenue was
recorded during 2022 as well, with an increase of over 12.7%, reaching
approximately HK$408.6 million. Despite all of the cost pressures
encountered over the past year, the Group was still able to record profit,
amounting to HK$12.6 million.

BRER

RAZRERFEEREARAR(ARRAT]) REHE
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(TEEg))  REAEEEHZE2022F12A318 1
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWE

Since the listing in 2020, the Group has been executing its global
strategic arrangement. Before listing, we had set up production factories
in the major apparel manufacturing countries, namely China, Vietnam
and Bangladesh, and had developed a sales network in over 40 major
fashion markets around the globe. Upon listing, in response to market
needs, we actively set up new sales bases in suitable locations including
Southern and Western Europe and Central America, as well as launching
production bases in Turkey and India to support sales. In recent years, in
order to diversify supply chain risks, apparel brands have been shifting
their production activities to different countries such as South America
and Southern Europe. Our global strategic arrangement gave us a head
start, allowing us to successfully acquire orders from different regions,
thus attracting more brands to cooperate with the Group, and expanding
our customer base.

Not only was the Group dedicated to stabilising our existing business,
we also actively explored new business opportunities in a bid to diversify
and expand our source of income, with radio-frequency identification
("RFID") products being one of our main focuses. In the last two years,
RFID products have become more commonly used on clothing. In light
of such, we further introduced RFID products to clients across the world,
and were able to gain plenty of new European customers last year, which
continuously improved the profit of this product. On the other hand,
we also noticed that the market's awareness of ESG issues was rising,
so we dedicated more effort in researching and developing solutions
for environmentally friendly products to better prepare ourselves for
the coming market megatrend. We believe it would become one of our
competing strengths. Apart from that, we strategically acquired Print100
Limited in 2022 and renamed it Yinyibai (E1100). Besides developing the
fast printing business, we were also actively expanding the business into
the customized product market that was sought after by more and more
consumers, so as to hone this unique advantage our business holds
and solidify our market position. We had also set up new factories in
Hong Kong and introduced the latest facilities to meet the urging market
needs, in an effort to trigger new growth momentum with this new
business.

To further strengthen the Group’s market share in Europe, we conducted
a strategic acquisition at the end of February this year, acquiring 25%
equity of Primway S.A.R.L, which is a company incorporated in France
and engages in the same businesses as us, being printing, labelling and
packaging.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

NEEBE2020F EHAR - —EHHBETREIES
B ETENMGR o ETE - RPIERIR= KRE
HER PR BE RIS EERE U
Rt REMEI0EETBEHEETHREHERE -
MmELE™®% - BRAEEMSER  BRREENM
REEAEE P EMTEEEEE  TEEER
WERELFERNEUALIRHE - 0F - RES
REEERSBEETSHERITRBRE!T - 05

ERAEE - Ao BRI ER - MR M2 IR0
BERHE - ERLIBIR M - BRI PIR A TR

METE W EZmEEARBAE  BAEPE
B o
AEBERTHORZEARRSI  TRERBHAE

o ASTTEERRAR « Hh - SR 5EH
F(TRFIDDNERREHERN IR - BEMF -
RFIDEMARK LWEABEER - RfE—F
M2 IRE P #HERFIDEMR M &tk £ EBUM
BT HEP  SEERERNKAE LT -
A—HE BAGBEEIMISHESGEER R
T FUL SR B RRERNBERTR - Bt
TIBRB BT ER - BIERFED - 1o - &
PIR2022F KM WBEH 2 - XEHmEA [
100] » B TRENZER - RAITRGEHRBEESE A
BBRFMEAMCERTS  ARAEBBEED
BEMHMM - 1IN RIS EBTERRIEE &
SIAFRIE - MAERDOTISTR - AN EBEE
L RE N o

RE—TSEREEEBMOEBLRE - ZRMRSE
2AERBEWEREREOR  FHERBEER
79 B A RIPrimway S.A.R.LH25%f%#E °



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

In the coming year, the global business environment will be volatile due
to the effects brought on by the increasing rate adopted by America
and the geopolitical risks, causing the macro-environment to be more
complicated. Though that may be the case, we are also seeing some
positive signs, such as the entering of the post-pandemic age, the
gradual recovery of the global economy and the slowing of inflation
on the cost of raw materials and logistics, which will be beneficial for
the global development of our business. Therefore, we are cautiously
optimistic toward the prospect of 2023.

The Group has already successfully developed a global network, which
provides a sturdy foundation for future development. In 2023, taking
advantage of our strong foundation, we will focus on improving the
sales performance of different markets, the usage rate and operation
efficiency of production facilities, as well as developing more diverse
product profiles, and investing more in research and development
with an aim to achieve a breakthrough on the application of RFID and
environmental friendly product. In the meantime, we will also actively
promote Yinibai (E1100) and expand its business, such as by optimizing
the online sales platform and transcending its current retail-market-
oriented business model to the business-to-business (B2B) level.
When the time comes, we will discuss the feasibility of introducing
the successful operating model to China and other regions around the
world. Over the past difficult years, the Group has dedicated itself to
sharpening its comparative edges, so we could be the first to capture the
opportunities that arose when the market revived, a day we have been
eagerly awaiting.

With this opportunity, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
toward the Board, the Shareholders, our staff members, clients and
suppliers for their recognition and long-term support, which have
become our rock and given us the strength to rise up to the challenges
and march ahead against all odds.

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENW& D

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Although the first half of 2022 was still clouded by the pandemic,
the apparel industry’'s success in digital transformation encouraged
consumption, energising overall consumer sentiment. Yet, in the
second half of the year, the market situation took a downturn as
China implemented even stricter control measures in response to the
intensified pandemic, hindering economic activities and development.
However, in other regions, the pandemic was gradually under control and
resumed normal, but the market environment are still full of challenges.
As a result, the global situation remained burdened by numerous
uncertainties. Affected by the rate hike and inflation, American citizens’
consumption desires plummeted. This year, the Group strived for
success in prudence, as we actively continued to set up sales offices
and factories around the globe to enhance productivity, in a bid to fully
prepare itself when retail rebounded during the post-pandemic era, so
we could be the first among the apparel label and trim product industries
to grasp the arising opportunities.

By executing its global strategic arrangement, the Group holds
an advantage, allowing us to seize any opportunities immorsed in
markets all over the world while limiting the effects brought on by the
performances of respective regions. Since the Group has sales offices
on every continent and factories in all major apparel manufacturing
countries, we could acquire more orders, hence, the Group's revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2022 ("FY2022") recorded a year-on-year
increase of approximately 12.7%, amounting to HK$408.6 million (2021:
approximately HK$362.5 million). Despite the fact that the global supply
chain and logistics were disrupted and the raw material cost remained
expensive, the Group was able to maintain its gross profit margin at
42.5% by countering the elevating cost through the implementation
of stringent cost control measures, optimizing productivity structure
and setting up a global network. On account of the fact that some of
the new sales offices and production bases of the Group were still in
the investment phase and that shipping fee was expensive throughout
2022. Barring unforeseen circumstances or any major funding needs,
the Company intends to maintain dividend practice. The Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash of HK0.20 cents
per ordinary share (2021: HK0.25 cents) to recognize the continuous
support of the Company's shareholders.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

In terms of sales, in a general sense, since the global economy was
uncertain, there were prudent customers who temporarily reduced
orders; individual market performance was also affected by other
factors. For example, America was unable to relieve the stress from
the rate rise and the inflation in the year, causing consumer sentiment
to be fatigued. The Group carried on expanding the China market,
successfully gaining various domestic brand customers during the
year, but China strengthened its pandemic control measures as the
pandemic situation worsened in the second half of the year, affecting
the overall order volume and shipping volume. On the other hand, the
Group developed a geographical advantage through implementing its
global strategy of setting up sales offices in major apparel markets
and factories in neighboring regions, which allowed us to grasp more
business opportunities. For example, the sales office in Italy that
commenced operation in 2021 acquired many new customers and orders
during the year. The newly established sales offices in Mexico, Spain and
Guatemala were launched this year, serving as entry points for the Group
to expand its businesses in Central America and Western Europe.

During the Review Period, the geopolitical situation and pandemic
continued to disturb the Group’'s operation. Production cost was
pressured as raw material costs remained high, which was due to
the stressed supply chain, and shipping fees rocketed. The Group
implemented strict cost control measures, which helped mitigate the
adverse effects. The Group had been implementing strategic global
arrangements. Under which, we set up factories in the major apparel
manufacturing countries, namely China, Vietnam and Bangladesh. In
2022, the Group enhanced the productivity of the major production bases
such as the Bangladesh factory, while setting up factories in regions with
development potential such as Southeast Asia, Southern Europe and
Central America. Earlier on, the Group set up a sales office in India, and
then installed equipment to improve productivity after it could acquire a
steady volume of orders to meet local needs. Currently, its business in
India has become a model for other markets as it has developed an intra-
national business cycle of sales and production.

In terms of products, the Italy sales office acquired certain European
brands as new clients for its RFID products, bringing forth a consistent
increase in order volume. During the year, the Group also invested
more in marketing research, and applied for patents for RFID solutions,
technologies and products in the Mainland China. Meanwhile, large
apparel brands had developed immense need for or interest in products
with an environmentally friendly concept as they would like to achieve
sustainable development and increase market recognition. In light of
this, the Group had invested more in the research and development of
this area, in an effort to co-develop diversified environmentally friendly
products and solutions with clients.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

The Group completed the acquisition of Print100 Limited (“Print100")
on 6 May 2022 and renamed it Yinyibai* (E1100), with the intention to
expand the Group's business scope using a brand new image and take
up more market share. With the support of the Group's domestic factory
and the additional resources the Group invested to install new equipment
and enhance market promotion, Yinyibai* (E[1100)’s sales and operation
performance showed improvements. Its new factory in Kwai Chung was
also launched in December 2022. Yinyibai* (E1100) is currently focusing
on developing the fast printing business in the local retail market, and
will actively expand its business blueprint and scope in the future.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward into 2023, the global market will continue to be troubled
by uncertainties such as volatile economic activities, intense geopolitical
situation, rate hikes and stress caused by potential appreciation of
Renminbi (“RMB"). However, as China and other nations reopened their
borders and economic activities began to return to normal, the retail
and sales markets of the major economic systems such as America and
China may show signs of revival in the first half of the year, rejuvenating
the consumption industries, which would also benefit the apparel label
and trim product industries. The Group is cautiously optimistic toward
the coming year, and will continue to execute the global strategic
business arrangement, so we can be well-prepared for any uprising
opportunities upon the revival of markets.

On account of the difficult business environment, the industry is still
undergoing a price war, which accelerated the restructuring of the
market. The Group is committed to act on a business principle that pivots
around brand clients and quality mid-to-high-end products, while making
use of its strengths and resources, as well as its competitive edges
including its global sales and production network, broad customer base,
ability to develop new products and healthy financial position to solidify
its position in the market during the restructuring where only the strong
will survive, and to expand its business scale in the markets of different
regions step by step. The Group is also positive about the market trend
in the post-pandemic era, so we have already set up sales and production
bases, and are waiting for a suitable opportunity to strike. The newly
constructed factory in Bangladesh will be put into operation in March
2023, while the factory in Mexico is expected to be put into operation
in the second quarter of 2023. The Group will closely monitor the
development of different markets, so adjustments can be made to the
production network in time to seize the growing opportunities present in
different regions.

The Group sees the potential in the fast printing market, thus has been
investing resources into developing the business of Yinyibai* (E1100).
Considering the booming customisation market and the increasing
demand for such services, the Group actively optimizes the online retail
channel and sets up a new factory, as it strives to develop the business.
As countries reopened their borders and economic activities gradually
relaunched, more and more events such as various international
exhibitions and conferences were held, which boosted the need for fast
printing. In order to exploit the opportunity, the Group is exploring ways
to introduce the business at the business-to-business (B2B) level.

* for identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Looking forward, the Group will continue to operate with its existing
businesses as its core, and closely monitor changes in the markets so
it can allocate resources and adjust strategies in time, in a bid to be the
first to jump on the opportunities brought by the recovery of markets.
At the same time, the Group will continue to develop products and
explore new opportunities, so as to diversify our income sources and
speed up business growth, which in turn will create bigger values for
Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from the sale of apparel
labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. Revenue of our Group increased by
approximately HK$46.1 million or 12.7% from approximately HK$362.5
million for FY2021 to approximately HK$408.6 million for FY2022. Such
increase was primarily due to the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions in
many countries which in turn led to growth in demand and sales in 2022.

Cost of sales and gross profit

The cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately HK$30.6
million, representing an increase of 15.0% from approximately HK$204.5
million for FY2021 to approximately HK$235.1 million for FY2022, which
was driven by the increase in sales volume and increase in procurement
price for the major raw material consumed by the Group.

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$15.5 million, or
approximately 9.8%, from approximately HK$1568.0 million for FY2021
to approximately HK$173.5 million for FY2022. The Group's gross profit
margin decreased from approximately 43.6% for FY2021 to 42.5% for
FY2022.

Other income and gains

The Group's other income and gains, increased by approximately HK$2.9
million from approximately HK$6.6 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$9.5 million for FY2022. The increase was primarily as a result of
the government subsidies received during FY2022 in relation to wages
subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme of the Anti-epidemic
Fund operated by the Hong Kong government and the freight and
transportation income enhance by revenue trend to increase.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’'s selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$7.6 million, or approximately 16.6%, from
approximately HK$45.8 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$53.4
million for FY2022, primarily due to increase in (i) marketing and
promotion expenses, and (ii) salaries related to salesman, which were
generally in line with the increase in revenue during FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Administrative expenses

The Group’'s administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$18.3 million, or approximately 19.2%, from approximately HK$95.1
million for FY2021 to HK$113.4 million for FY2022, primarily due to
increase in (i) the number of headcount, and (ii) the expansion of overall
operation and site offices, which were generally in line with the increase
in revenue during FY2022.

Other operation income/(expenses), net

The Group's other operating income was approximately HK$4.9 million in
FY2022 compared with the other operating expenses was approximately
HK$0.1 million in FY2021. The above change was mainly due to the gain
on foreign exchange during the Reporting Period.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs represented interest on bank loan and interest
on lease liabilities of approximately HK$2.2 million and HK$2.3 million
in FY2022 and FY2021, respectively, which remained broadly stable on
year-on-year basis.

Taxation

The Group's taxation expense remain constant at approximately HK$6.2
million for both FY2022 and FY2021 respectively, which remained
broadly stable on year-on-year basis.

Profit for the year

The operating profit of the Group decreased by approximately HK$2.4

million from approximately HK$15.0 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$12.6 million for FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net assets amounted to approximately HK$239.3 million
as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$249.7
million). The Group maintained a sound financial position during FY2022.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$62.3 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$102.1 million).

For the cash and bank balances, approximately HK$26.8 million was
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, approximately HK$18.5 million
was denominated in US Dollars, approximately HK$5.6 million was
denominated in EUR Dollars, and approximately HK$2.7 million was
denominated in Renminbi. The Group's cash in Hong Kong Dollars,
US Dollars, EUR Dollars and Renminbi was held to support its core
operational needs.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$20.9 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$13.6 million) and aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$122.1 million, of which approximately HK$20.9 million
was utilised and approximately HK$101.2 million was unutilised. The
Group is not committed to draw down the unutilised amount.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$130.7 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$110.8 million). The property, plant and equipment
increased by approximately HK$19.9 million, or 18.0%, which was mainly
attributable to the acquisition of plant and machinery of approximately
HK$48.8 million during FY2022. For further strengthen the Group's
market position, increase its market share and capture the growth in
the global market, the Group has made additional investments in the
machinery and equipment.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$70.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$37.4 million as compared to that of approximately HK$107.8 million
as at 31 December 2021. As a result, current ratio (dividing total current
assets by total current liabilities at year end date) deteriorated to 1.5
times as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 1.8 times).

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (dividing bank borrowings plus lease liabilities
by equity attributable to owners of the Company at year end date)
increased from approximately 18.5% as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately 21.3% as at 31 December 2022. The increase was mainly
due to the increase on interest-bearing bank borrowings during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Treasury policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Period.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amounts and trade receivables by performing ongoing credit
assessments and monitoring prompt recovery and, if necessary, making
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. In order to
achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with
leading licensed banks in Hong Kong and denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Euro dollars and United
States dollars. The Group currently does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge against the volatility associated with foreign
currency transactions and other financial assets and liabilities arising
in the ordinary course of business. The Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchanges rate during the Reporting Period.
The Board will closely monitor the changes of the rate of exchange and
government policies from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 February 2023 (after trading hours), the Lowatag Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the purchaser
(the “Purchaser”) has entered into an investment agreement with
Mr. Mickael Berdah, Mr. Dominique Toyer and Mr. Frédéric Wengrow,
as the vendors (collectively, the “Vendors"), pursuant to which (i) the
Purchaser agreed to subscribe for the subscription shares of Primway
S.A.R.L, a limited liability company incorporated in France; and (ii) the
Vendors agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire the sale
shares of Primway S.A.R.L, for a total consideration of EUR1,095,000.
For details of the acquisition of shares in Primway S.A.R.L, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 24 February 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant
event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, we had a total of 1,164 employees in all
regions (2021: 1,050 employees).

The Company’'s employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other employee’s
benefits, amounted to approximately HK$156.7 million for FY2022
(FY2021: approximately HK$136.9 million). Remuneration packages
are generally structured by reference to market terms and individual
qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed annually based
on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND DATE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HKO0.20 cents per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HKO0.25 cents per ordinary share). The final
dividend is conditional upon the passing of the relevant resolution by
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2023
AGM") to be held on Friday, 16 June 2023.

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 16 June 2023 will be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2023 AGM. It is expected that the proposed final dividend, if
approved, the final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars and to be
paid on Monday, 10 July 2023 to shareholders whose name appeared on
the register of members on Monday, 26 June 2023. A notice concerning
the annual general meeting will be published and despatched to the
shareholders of the Company in due course.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not hold any significant
investments in equity interest in any other companies and had no
definite future plans for material investments and capital assets for
FY2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 27 January 2022 (after trading hours), the Company as the purchaser
(the “"Purchaser”) entered into a non-legally binding provisional sale
and purchase agreement (the “Provisional SPA") with Mr. Cheng
Chung Fo, the sole shareholder (the “Vendor"”) of Print100 Limited (the
“Target Company"). Pursuant to the Provisional SPA, the Vendor has
provisionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser has provisionally agreed
to purchase 100% of the equity interests of the Target Company (the
“Acquisition”), subject to the entering into a definitive formal sale
and purchase agreement to be entered into between the parties (the
“Formal SPA"). On 6 May 2022 the terms and conditions as set out in
the Formal SPA have been fulfilled and the transaction contemplated
thereunder was completed. For details of the Acquisition, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated on 27 January 2022 and 11 May
2022.

On 31 March 2022 (after trading hours), Charming Trim Lanka (PVT) Ltd,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the Lessee
(the "Lessee”), has entered into the Build & Lease Agreement (the
“Build & Lease Agreement”) with Royal Will Global (Private) Limited
as the Lessor (the “Lessor”), pursuant to which the Lessor agreed to
complete the construction of the building on the land at its cost before
the commencement date and the Lessee agreed to lease the leased
properties for a term of 15 years commencing from the commencement
date. For details of the Build & Lease Agreement, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated on 31 March 2022.

On 21 July 2022, (after trading hours), Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd.,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the purchaser,
entered into the purchase contracts with Heidelberg Graphics (Beijing)
Company Limited Shenzhen Branch (the “Heidelberg Graphics”), as the
vendor, for the purchase of (i) a four-colour offset press printing machine
and (ii) a high-speed cutter, at a total contract price of RMB8,935,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,364,600). and subsequently, after
various discussions between the Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. and the
Heidelberg Graphics, the purchase contracts were not proceed and the
transactions contemplated thereunder. For details of the purchase of
machinery, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 21 July
2022 and 1 August 2022.
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On 5 August 2022, (after trading hours), Yinyibai Digital Colour Printing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the purchaser, entered into the purchase contracts with
Heidelberg Graphics (Beijing) Company Limited Shenzhen Branch, as the
vendor, for the purchase of (i) a four-colour offset press printing machine
and (ii) a high-speed cutter, at a total contract price of RMB8,935,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,364,600). For details of the purchase
of machinery, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 5
August 2022.

Save for the above, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
Reporting Period.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 12 March 2020 (the
“Listing Date"”). The net proceeds from the initial public offering of the
shares, net of underwriting commission in respect of the offering and
other relevant expenses, amounted to approximately HK$69.9 million.

As of 31 December 2022, our Company has not yet fully utilised the net
proceeds from the global offering was approximately HK$35.4 million.

Updated expected timetable for use of proceeds

The net proceeds which remained unutilised as of 31 December 2022
amounts to approximately HK$35.4 million (the “Unutilised Net
Proceeds"), all of which are intended to be used for construction of
the new Bangladesh factory and purchasing machinery for the new
Bangladesh factory.

Reference is made to the circular of Company dated 25 November
2020, the announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2021,
the announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2022 to further extend
the expected completion date of the Works, and the announcement of
the Company dated 10 May 2022 to further extension of the expected
completion date of the Works on or before 25 May 2022 (the "“3th
Extension Announcement”). Having consider the prevailing market
conditions and the completion schedule of the construction work, the
Board was resolved to extend the expected timetable for the use of the
Unutilised Net Proceeds from within three years after the Listing Date to
on or before 30 September 2023. The utilisation of the net proceeds as
at 31 December 2022 and the revised timetable for use of proceeds are
set out below:
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R ERE SR

Set out below is the actual use of net proceeds from the initial public ~T% 23| E A ABRERMAGRBFEIERA
offering. %o
Amount Amount Amount
remaining remaining remaining
and brought and brought Amount  and brought Updated
forward from Amount  forward from utilisedin ~ forward from expected
the year ended utilised in  the six months the year ended the yearended timeline for
31December the six months ended 30 June 31 December 31 December utilisation of
2021 ended 30 June 2022 2022 2022 the unused
HzZaNE N2 HEN2E  HRA2E  EE2022F  netproceeds
Percentage 128318 HZ2022% 6A30H 128318 12A31H ARBA
of net proceeds  Net proceeds LEEZ 6A308  LABAZ %:3:5 tEEZ *ER
Use of net proceeds {kFERE FiERE BER  LABAZ HER 2HA BER FERERE
FERERERE FEEM ik AitE CHALE Ik Pz | FieE ZBERER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TiEn TiEn TEn TER THR
Construction of the New
Bangladesh Factory and on or before
Purchasing Machinery 30 September
for the New Bangladesh 2023
Factory #2023F
BEFRRMLRE R 94308
ANAMUBEEERS 98.4% 68,800 49,889 8,240 41,649 6,237 35,412 eV
General Working Capital N/A N/A N/A
-REEEE 1.6% 1,100 0 iR 0 iR 0 iR
Total
fEt 100% 69,900 49,889 8,240 41,649 6,237 35,412

Reasons for updated expected timetable for use of proceeds

The reason for the update of expected timetable for use of proceeds are

as follows:

(a) As disclosed in the 3rd Extension Announcement, due to
the significant impact of COVID-19 pandemic continues
to spread around the world during the Reporting Period.
The strict COVID-19 quarantine measures or lockdown
restrictions implemented in Bangladesh cities have caused the
postponement or halt of certain construction operations. Due to
the supply of building materials used in the construction work
have been interrupted and insufficient numbers of construction
workers, the construction works did not immediately resume to
the normal level of operations even after the strict quarantine
measures or lockdown restrictions was lifted; and
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(b) As at the date of this announcement, substantial portion of the
construction works of the factory has been completed including
certain painting work, aluminium work, sanitary fittings and road
work. However, additional time is required for the contractor
to finalising the construction, and thereafter, the Company and
contractor jointly carry out inspection to the construction work in
according to the construction agreement and issue completion
certificate.

The Board confirms that there is no material change in the business
nature of the Company as set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 28 February 2020 and change in the use of the proceeds as at the
date of this announcement.

Save as the changes disclosed above, there are no other proposed
changes in the use of the Net Proceeds. The Unutilised Net Proceeds will
be applied in a manner consistent with the above planned applications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. The corporate governance
principle of the Company emphasises accountability and transparency
and is adopted in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders
(the “Shareholders”). In addition, the Company will strive to
continuously improve these practices and cultivate an ethical corporate
culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to protect the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has reviewed the
Company's corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the
Company has complied with all Code Provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) during the Reporting Period. The Company has applied the
principles of the CG Code to its corporate governance structure and
practices as described in this report. The Company will continue to
enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of its business and to review such practices from time to
time to ensure that they comply with the CG Code and align with the
latest developments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognises
that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board on

such matters; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REARE

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of six Directors, of which three are executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (“Mr. Barry Chan”), Ms.
Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law") and Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (“Mr. James
Chan”), and three are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. All
the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications, experience or related industry expertise. Mr. Barry Chan,
the Chairman, is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law, the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Directors’ biography and
relevant relationships amongst them are set out in the section headed
“"DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" section
under Report of the Directors on pages 37 to 41 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the members of the
Board is related to one another.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirement of the
Group. Also, a balanced composition of executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The Company
has satisfied the Listing Rules in having one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate accounting qualifications and
expertise to sit in the Audit Committee.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the
Listing Rules. Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all
corporate communications. An updated list of the Directors identifying
the independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions
of the Directors is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills, experience,
expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts of interests are
key factors of consideration. The Nomination Committee was set up to
make recommendations to the Board on the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship. Majority of members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARE

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible for the
formulation of the Group's strategy, overseeing the management of
the business and affairs of the Group. The Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management by
laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
The Board reserves its decision for all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board meetings.
All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for
inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the "Company Secretary”). With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chairman ensures that the Board works effectively to discharge its
responsibilities in the best interests of the Company, and, to establish
good corporate governance practices and procedures. He also ensures
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner and all Directors are encouraged to make a full and active
contribution to the board’s affairs. Directors with different views are
encouraged to voice their concerns. They are allowed sufficient time for
discussion of issues so as to ensure that board decisions fairly reflect
board consensus. A culture of openness and debate is promoted to
facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive Directors and ensure
constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors.
During the year, the Chairman held a meeting on 29 November 2022 with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
directors in compliance with the applicable code provision of the CG
Code.

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The Board
would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’s Liability
Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REARE

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the Board and
committee meetings, and general meeting(s) held during FY2022 is set
out below:

BESLHRER2022MBFERTHESEEREER
CEFUNMBRREG ZEEHIIWOT ¢

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

during FY2022

M20228 M E LR S ERHEEERH

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting committee committee committee AGM
EEBEE BXKZEE FHNEE® REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Barry Chan PR 2 B 50 5/5 N/ATE A N/AT 3 B 171 1/1
Ms. Candy Law BUMLL 5/5 N/ATE A I7Al N/AT3E IVAl
Mr. James Chan PR AE & 5 A 5/5 N/ATE N/AZ~ i 11 1/1
Independent Non- BYEHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick  #R##EfH &4 5/5 3/3 N/A 38 11 1/1
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE 5/5 3/3 11 11 1
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEEXB I+ 5/5 3/3 1Al 1Al 1Al

Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors not less than
three days before the scheduled date of a board or board committee
meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other
means of electronic communication. The Company Secretary ensures
that the procedure and all applicable rules and regulations are strictly and
fully complied with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details of the matters considered and
decisions reached at the relevant meetings. Draft and final versions of
the minutes in respect of board meetings and board committee meetings
are sent to all Directors or board committee members respectively
for comment and records within a reasonable time after the relevant
meetings. Minutes of board meetings and board committee meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and are able to
obtain independent professional advice whenever necessary.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and key
management executives, and will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of her appointment. Subsequently,
he/she will receive briefings and other professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company and he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibility with the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors
are also invited to participate in the Company events to familiarize
themselves with the operations of the Company and create opportunity
to communicate with other management members of the Company.

The records of training as received by each Director for the year ended
31 December 2022 are summarised as follows:

B2k E

BEHIESEHHRAMESLIREETRARS
| YR EENERSEERZ2E - EARER
ZEtBIES - Hig - REEILENEHEEME
FRREI UHEREHARRZEREBARE
TR YR2HABRBRRARRZEE -

ARBBEERERSBHFEFTERRITIIAEN
MENMB NG BREEETHERIEMEZ
BEATHEESELER - EXNERZ2EARQF
BE)  AREARBEE - TAEREERARFE
EREXEERE -

BREFENEZE2022F12 3B ILFEEZEIZ
EERBLM T

Type of trainings
EER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Barry Chan RR B AR 5T A&
Ms. Candy Law BYBIL

Mr. James Chan PRAFIE 5 &
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MBS A

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Ms. Luk Mei Yan R Bt

>

A C

A: Newsletters published by the Stock Exchange
B: Corporate governance & administration courses organized by
the School of Continuing and Professional Studies, The Chinese

University of Hong Kong

C: E-learning courses prepared by the Stock Exchange
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding
Directors’ and employees’ securities transactions. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is the person to be notified for securities
dealings by Directors and a designated form is used for notification and
acknowledgment purpose. Following specific enquiry by the Company,
they have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and risk
management to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interests
of Shareholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an
effective system of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the
process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control risks
are managed through the assistance of the Company’s Internal Control
Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure, formulates audit
plan and ensures that the audit programs cover key internal control areas
of operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports their findings and recommendations
to management of the Company and the Audit Committee. The Internal
Control Consultant also monitors the follow- up actions agreed upon in
response to her recommendations and reports to the Audit Committee
the progress of implementation of those recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company's Internal
Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the overall financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
continues to be effective and adequate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors ensure that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 48 to 53 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the auditors of the Company
received approximately HK$2,200,000 (2021: HK$2,078,000) for their
audit service. Non-audit service which covered taxation service provided
to the Group was approximately HK$414,000 (2021: HK$281,000) in the
same year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-
executive Directors and one executive Director. They are Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong (Committee Chairman), Ms. Candy Law and Ms. Luk Mei Yan.
The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and the
senior management were reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration, includes basic salary and performance bonus. Annual
salary adjustment and performance bonus are subject to review and
approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Chairman, the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the Reporting Period
with a 100% attendance by all committee members. During the year,
the works performed by the Remuneration Committee included the

following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr.
Barry Chan (Committee Chairman) and Mr. James Chan and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong, Mr. Lam
Chor Ki Dick and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. The defined terms of reference of the
Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board for selection and nomination of directors, and the
succession planning of directors and senior management. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the size, structure and composition
of the Board with reference to the Company's board diversity policy and
assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting Period with a
100% attendance by all committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Nomination Committee
included the following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting (the “"AGM");

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to enhance
quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors including but not being
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background, age,
race, gender and other qualities. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience, and taking into account diversity.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of
the Board under diversified perspective, and monitor the implementation
of this policy to ensure its effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

REZES

REZESEHMNENITERRERLE(ZESE
B RRIEEEENR =B BIATEEFRE
A MEBHEEREXRLLEK - ZTEEME
EEREBES VAR R MBS A -

REZESAEREERRLESFUREEREN
ERABZEEAENEZTSRHEMEBER - &2
ZEENMERBARRZESTENEZTILBER
MEES 2 AR - RERAEK - LEHEBIERTT
BEERTEY -

REZEENHEHHBEIT—NSHE MELZES
KB HEFEEEI00% °

FR - REZEGHITNITERENTER:

- BRERFEENRRBFRS([RERBFK
g EBEBE

- BREUEESARHEK: &

- FHMEBIMIERITESRELIE -

EESCRMEEENEZTTEERE - Al
NEBLEFEEENES T BERAESS
=B - ZBRECEEBERZRAR(BREATR
RicgE R RITRER - BF - Fik - Bk - 4
MREMBSE)EREES S - WEEZREE
REEFGZHREABEAKBTUEE - EFFH
BLEBRBABES R REhERITACRE
ERE  ARZEEXREREZT -

REZESHEFRECEETSZTIERZAS
MK UERZBRZATEAAEREITZAE
Mo ZEBE R EM A EEYZEEEL 28
Rl WRAEBFSRDEEES  HEZERIE -

HFEZEREROT ¢ 2022 FERSE

27



28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARE

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that
the Board members have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

- Reputation for integrity;

— Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and
industry;

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

— Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange;

— Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

— Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. They are Ms. Luk Mei Yan (Committee Chairman), Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company's internal
audit function, risk management system and regulatory compliance, the
review of the Company’s financial information and compliance, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor and assessing its independence and performance.

ERREGZIEREBEENARRAMEE
BRERARR 2 ABEZREE - RREE RS R
EEASRIE  BHAALQ Tﬁﬁkﬁﬂ)&é%ﬁl DI
ZERBRINEREEN M E F SR R AR
HBIMERKRR -

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings AWML BEZEERBT TS AEE HED
and the attendance record are as follows: SR
Attendance
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick B A 3/3
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE 3/3
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEEBE Lt 3/3

The works performed by the Audit Committee during the year included
the following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting matters, and
updates on regulatory rules in the auditor's Audit Committee Report
and the draft audited financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022;

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 focusing on business highlights, any change of accounting
policies and practices, and compliance with accounting standards
and Listing Rules requirements;

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their communication
plan, their independence, developments affecting the Company's
business, their risk assessment and updates of accounting standards
and Listing Rules as affecting the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022;

— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant audit
findings with management at all committee meetings;

— reviewing with management on implementation of the recommendations
on internal control made by the Internal Control Consultant; and

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the Group.

The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of external
auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has recommended
to the Board their re-appointment for the financial year ending on 31
December 2022 at the 2023 AGM.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2022, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules which requires the Company Secretary to take no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographical details of
the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS’
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy"),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. A decision to declare and pay any dividends would
require the approval of the Board and will be at their discretion. The
Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board may
recommend the payment of final dividends which are required to be
approved by the Shareholders in general meetings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the importance of communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well as potential
investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
with an aim of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with timely
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the external auditors
are normally present to answer questions as raised by the Shareholders.
Notice of the AGM and the related circular are sent to the Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures for conducting a
poll will be explained to the Shareholders at the beginning of the general
meeting to ensure that the Shareholders are familiar with the voting
procedures. Each issue will be proposed by a separate resolution by the
Chairman of the general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
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Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

- An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the
"Eligible Shareholder(s)”) having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

— The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting, and
be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The Eligible
Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company;

— The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order
or the Shareholders concerned have failed to deposit sufficient
money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM; and

— If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
EGM.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for all relevant information
including Company’s announcements, press releases, financial
highlights, the Company’s constitutional documents and detailed
procedures for the Shareholders to convene meetings.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor relations
and communications by maintaining a regular dialogue with investors
and other stakeholders. The Company’s website at http://www.cirtek.
com also features a dedicated Investor Relations section to facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and investors. Corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information are
made available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon the Listing,
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, there
had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group during the year were
manufacture and sale of apparel products, such as hang tags, woven
labels, printed labels and heat transfer products. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future development of the Group's
business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 7 and pages
8 to 19 of this annual report, respectively. Certain key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group's environment policies and
performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and an account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders are
included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The Company
will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange in due course. These discussions form part of this
“Report of the Directors”. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are shown in note 37 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year and the Company’s and the Group's
financial positions at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 54 to 152.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HKO0.20 cents per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK0.25 cents per ordinary share). The final
dividend is conditional upon the passing of the relevant resolution by
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2023
AGM") to be held on Friday, 16 June 2023.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group's financial information for FY2022 is set out on
page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during FY2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions which were
subject to the requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year. The related party transactions are disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during FY2022.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's securities throughout FY2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which could oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during FY2022.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 29 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$252.9 million
(2021: HK$252.6 million). The share premium of the Company is available
for distribution or paying dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the distribution or the payment of dividends, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
13 June 2023 to Friday, 16 June 2023 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2023 Annual General Meeting, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 June
2023.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
23 June 2023 to Monday, 26 June 2023 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 June 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 15.6% (2021: 17.0%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
10.6% (2021: 11.3%). Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 14.3% (2021: 12.2%) of the total purchases
for the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 5.1% (2021: 3.6%). None of the Directors of the Company
or any of their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Chor Ki Dick

Mr. LEE Tak Cheong

Ms. LUK Mei Yan

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which
a director retires may fill the vacated office. According to Article 112
of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Article of Association, each of Mr. Chan Tsz Fung
and Mr. Lee Tak Cheung will retire at the 2023 AGM and all of them,
being eligible, will offer themselves for reelection at the 2023 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan, and as
at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (FREZRF), aged 63, being one of our
Controlling Shareholders and Chairman of our Board, was appointed as
our managing director in February 1992 and appointed as our Director
on 25 January 2019 and re-designated as our executive Director on
21 February 2020. Mr. Barry Chan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Barry Chan is responsible for our Group's overall management,
corporate development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 39 years of experience in the apparel labels
and trim products manufacturing industry. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse
of Ms. Candy Law and the father of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Ms. Law Miu Lan (E##), aged 60, being one of our Controlling
Shareholders, was appointed as our assistant managing director in
September 1994, our Chief Executive Officer and Director on 17
May 2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21
February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible for our Group's overall
management, operation and strategic planning. She obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 36 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry. Ms. Candy Law is the spouse of
Mr. Barry Chan and the mother of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (BR#¥1£), aged 33, joined our Group in October
2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a product development
manager of Charming Printing Limited, a subsidiary of the Group
(“Charming Printing”). He was appointed as our Director on 17 May
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. James Chan is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. James Chan
has over five years of experience in the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing industry. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product development, marketing and strategic planning of our Group,
in particular our Group's sales and marketing activities in Europe. He
studied diploma of engineering at Deakin University from February 2011
to February 2012. He is the son of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law,
our executive Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (%), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in November 1990.
He then obtained the master of arts in electronic business from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various accounting and
finance positions in a number of companies including AIA Group Limited,
Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal (S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business
Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong Ying Computer Label & Embroidery
Company Limited and AFG Company Limited. From November 2000
to January 2005, Mr. Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark
International (China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the
provision of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked as a financial
controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan Representative Office,
a company principally manufactures paper shredders. From January
2006 to November 2008, Mr. Lam worked as a director at Electrical
Components International Inc., a company principally manufactures
wire harness, with his last position being a finance and administrative
director and was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an operation
controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company principally
manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010 to January 2012,
he served as a consultant at Resources Global Professionals (HK)
Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has served as a vice president of
the asian operation department in ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Zf£8&), aged 51, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate
diploma in quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a general
manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield Manufacturing
Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal stamping business.
From December 2007 to June 2009, he served as a general manager at
Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a company primarily manufactures electric
powered tools. From September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started
working as a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted
as an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the business
management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a company primarily
sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing service.
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Ms. Luk Mei Yan (F£3£ %), aged 58, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 June 2021 and is currently the Chairman
of Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Luk acquired her
bachelor of commerce (accounting) from Curtin University of Technology
in August 1996 and associate diploma in accounting from Adeliade
College of TAFE in Australia in May 1993. Ms. Luk was admitted as
a certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants in March 1998 and was certified as an associate
of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in July 1998.

From November 2013 to December 2016, Ms. Luk was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee in Eprint Group Limited (Stock code: 1884). From July 2008
to March 2019, she had also worked as the group financial controller
of Golden Sun Home Products Limited. Since February 2020, she has
served as accounting manager in Advanced Finishing Systems (HK)
Limited.

Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock (E%%&), aged 64, was appointed as the sales and
marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012. Mr. Chew obtained
a higher stage certificate in salesmanship and sales management
from The London Chamber of Commerce and Industry in spring 1984.
Mr. Chew has more than 29 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry.
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Mr. Fung Hong Keung (5&3&), aged 60, was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer of Charming Printing in February 2021. From 1992 to
2011, Mr. Fung held various financial position in a number of companies
including Integrated Display Technology Limited, a subsidiary of IDT
International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 167)), Sanmina-SCI (China) Limited, a subsidiary
of Sanmina- SCI (NASDAQ stock code: SANM) and a subsidiary of
Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 420). During the period from
2011 to 2012, Mr Fung worked as the Chief corporate service officer of
H£EH CRYI) ##AR DT, a subsidiary of the Hong Kong Productivity
Council. From 2012 to 2016, Mr Fung worked as executive director, chief
financial officer, company secretary at eprint Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1884), which
primarily engaged in supplying online printing services and customized
printed products. From 2017 to 2020, Mr Fung worked as chief financial
officer at Tung Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Tung Chit Group Limited, which primarily engaged in distribution and
manufacturing of PRC-branded cigarettes.

Mr. Fung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from the
Bolton University of Higher Education in the United Kingdom in October
2003, and a graduate diploma in China marketing and e-business from
the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education in November 2004. He was awarded the Professional
diploma in Corporate Governance and Directorship from the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and Hong Kong Productivity Council in November
2012. He has been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since December 2004, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2005, and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2013.

Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 64, was appointed as the president
of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director of Charming US.
Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan University from 1979
to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ringeisen worked as a western
region sales manager at US Label Corporation, a company primarily
sells and markets apparel identification products, from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ringeisen worked as a sales manager in the western region of the
United States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked as a vice
president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily engaged in the sales
and marketing business from 2003 to 2008. He later worked as a vice
president at Integra Trim, a company primarily engaged in the sales and
marketing business from 2008 to 2010 where he was responsible for
overseeing and managing the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (B3 {&), aged 54, was appointed as the general
manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained a diploma in
business administration from the Huizhou University in July 1997. From
April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as a salesman at Huizhou
Jiangbei Building Material Company* (B ILEH A F), a company
primarily engaged in the trading business, with his last position being a
manager. Mr. Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County
Shiwan Chuangmei Printing Factory* (BB AERIZENRIF) from
August 2000 to July 2009.

* for identification purposes only

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2022 Annual Report

BEMAELE 605k 0 R2021F2 ARZ T AEE
ENRIE & BB I 4R 88 - 1992 E 20114 » B 2%k
ERZHEARETTRGBHBRLA - ARBEER
BHE AR AR (BEEER AR A R (R ER
FHHAT (RO - 167))WHBAT) - 5
E(PE)BBR A A (Sanmina-SCI(NASDAQR%
DA : SANM)WEB AR REMTE(£ME)
ARAT (RHASE : 420) KB R F - 12011
FE2012F 8 - BEEREENCRIEBE
RAR(BBEENRERHMNBAR)ETERE
HEHITE - N2012E20164F » F %&£ Reprint
EEERAA(RBZAER ETHRAR(BRHBAR
5% :1884)  TENBMHEN LEIRIRES REAL
ERIER)EERITES - EEVHEBERQFM
ZHBAL - R2017F 220205 - HBEERTung
Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited (Tung Chit
Group Limited®WMB AR » TBRENRREE
FEREEE)EITEFUEAE— -

BT R 2003F 10 A £ B Bolton University of
Higher EducationEEX& 512 + 247 - WM 20045
MAEBEAREEEEECERERFREHLE
FEBRER - WR2012F 11 AEESERE
CREBEENREBBECETAREETHEEX
B HBE2004F12ARARBERFT LA
CEREE - B2005F1 ARABTBEHMASS
BRE2013F1AAEBESETEEEE -

Richard Phillip Ringeisen % % © 64 & = 7
201152 B EZ T ACharming USKIEE - It A
Charming USHJE % - Ringeisenft £ N 1979 &
1980 FE A ZE IR KB HE - RIMAKREER -
Ringeisen 7t 4 7 1999 £ Z 2001 4 7£ US Label
Corporation( A— X EHEREHREZBANE
MmN BEAEFHELR - Ringeisent R
20014F £2003F /£ E B F = HJAlkahn Labels Inc
(A HEXTERFHEEBNARNDETHELE -
Ringeisen J¢ 4 H 2 5 2003 & £ 2008 & £ (£ 28
Packaging Inc(B— X EHFHEREHEBKN
NED) R BIRE o KEZN2008F £2010F EE
Integra Trim(A—HETERFHE R L HEBKHOR
AOMEIRE  FEEERREEZARIMNHEEE
& o

BN EEE - 5457 - 120098 A EEREEH
BIA)AACTR o N1997F 7 AMRBEMRBHN IH
BB - W1992F4 AE2000567H  BRER
FMNTITEEM AR R—REERETEHEBH
NANEHEHE - SERBLAKE - BEERER
200048 A = 20094 7 A Y& (E 18 78 5 A /2 &I X EN I
R TRRASIE -

* EEHE



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (FR{E%), aged 48, was appointed as the
finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in February 2016 and
the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Shue Yan College) in July 1998. He was then awarded a diploma in
operating business in China and a diploma in professional management
for China business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since August
2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration since February 2010. In view of Mr. Chan's experience in
legal and company secretarial functions and with stock exchange rules
and regulations, our Directors believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate
expertise for the purposes of Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed
to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

EHEEE

A.
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Company/ Number and company'’s
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Name of director company and capacity securities share capital
LT YNV
BENTF
BRITRALE
BEpE ARE/BEARER BRMERSH EHHARER HBINBE D
Chan Sing Ming Barry ~ The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
(“Mr. Barry Chan”) corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
BRER([REHEE]) ARF REtEE RS (M71)(H3F2)  1,308,000,0008% 7
Charming International Limited Beneficial owner 51 shares of 51.0%
("Charming International”) US$1.00 each
Charming International Limited ~ Ez#HB A 51A%
(['Charming International |) R .00 TR D
Law Miu Lan The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
(“"Ms. Candy Law ") corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
BUB(BPELZL]) £2F REtEE RS (M7 1) (H3F2)  1,308,000,0008% 17
Charming International Beneficial owner 49 shares of 49.0%
US$1.00 each
ERBAA 4958
Fk1.00%THRHD
Chan Tsz Fung The Company Beneficial owner 12,000,000 0.6%
shares

BrRreie LN BHEEAA

12,000,000/ /15
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Notes:

1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued
share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,308,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in
1,308,000,000 Shares held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure
requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms.
Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other by virtue of
the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors and/or chief executives of the Company nor their
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
each of them has taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or
which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register required to be kept therein or which would be
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and/
or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

As at the date of this annual report, the following persons (other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests
of 5% or more in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

R A BB B

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/ total issued

Name of shareholder nature of interest Number of shares share capital
RN

ERITRALE

BRRAE 513/ REntE BRHEE MBNBE DL
Charming International Beneficial interest (Note) 1,308,000,000 65.4%

Bafkm (M)

Note:

Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued share
capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,308,000,000 Shares. Accordingly,
Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in 1,308,000,000 Shares
held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2022, no person, other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and/or
short positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company”
above, had registered an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 21 February
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 15 September 2020, the
Company granted a total of 2,000,000 shares options with an exercise
price of HK$0.057 per share under the Share Option Scheme to one
of our senior management carrying rights to subscribe for up to a total
of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. The details are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.
50% of the 2,000,000 share options granted shall be exercisable from
31 December 2021 (instead of 1 January 2022) to 14 September 2025,
and the remaining 50% shall be exercisable from 31 December 2023
(instead of 1 January 2024) to 14 September 2025. The 2,000,000
share options granted are valid for 5 years from the date of grant (up
to 14 September 2025). The said share options granted will be lapsed
automatically if not exercised within the validity period. The closing
price of the Shares before the date of grant of the share options under
the Share Option Scheme was HK$0.059. As at the date of the Annual
Report, 200,000,000 Shares are available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme, representing approximately 10.0% of the total number
of Shares in issue (i.e. 2,000,000,000 Shares as at the date of the Annual
Report). Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and Rule 17.03(5) of the
Listing Rules, the Shares under an option granted under the Share Option
Scheme must be taken up within 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during FY2022.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. No options may be granted under any schemes of the Company or
the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the maximum
number being exceeded. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 Shares as at the date of
this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other schemes will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted under Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue. Any further grant of the options in excess of this limit is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of
option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under
the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Listing Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was no provision
to enter into any agreement which will or may result in the Company
issuing shares during the year.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company or chief executives or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2022 Annual Report
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2023
AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EN RS

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 54 to 151 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

BREEE
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statements.

Key audit matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNAEEERETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

2 2 BUGRRRNBER G

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$43,777,000 before
impairment of HK$854,000. Under HKFRS 9, the Group
accounted for the impairment on trade receivables with an
expected credit loss ("ECL") approach. The measurement
on the Group's trade receivables under the ECL approach
was estimated by management through the application of
judgements and use of highly subjective assumptions. The
impact of current economic factors, and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors were also considered in
management’s assessment of the likelihood of recovery from
customers.

720226 12A318 © BEEHBE S ERFIELA3,777,000
78 7T (A BR R (B 854,000 7T AT ) « IRIBEBM B ME LR E9
5 ERENEHBEEEE(EREEERE]FESE SRR
RIEREBEARK - AESEEEESAFE BXEZEZEKFIE
THEREFBERAERSEFHRBELMEE - EREHK
B% P RIE A e PTERT L I E E B B AT BER RN E A K
BB ANREAEEEE -

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the application
of significant judgement and estimates, we considered it as a
key audit matter.

HRESREFIEEEX - BERAERAE Rt HEER
RERBAEETEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BB BE RN AR A B ISR M T4 520 -

Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the ECLs; obtaining an understanding of and
discussing with management for judgement used under the
ECL approach; assessing historical loss pattern and reviewing
subsequent settlements after the year end; and assessing the
current economic condition and forward-looking information
by checking the economic indicators.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRENSE

BRESBEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
TENENMEEBRENSE

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded inventories of
approximately HK$68,758,000 and reversal of write-down
of inventories to net realisable value of HK$433,000 was
recognised during the year. The write-down of inventories to
net realisable value was estimated by management through
the application of judgement and the use of highly subjective
assumptions, such as the estimated selling price.
2022612 H318 © BEEEHSFEX68,758,000/8 T * I
PAF ARERRTT B MU < @ %= 7] £37 )% 433,000 7T - FEM
BEREIRRET R EEE R AR NSE B RREDL G
sH(anfEEt BB o

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRBBEHNRA M FERERMF4R19 -

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of
management’s controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory items
whose costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the provision; assessing the inventory provision
by reviewing subsequent sales and usage after the year end
and checking the latest selling prices; and observing physical
condition of inventories by performing physical inventory
inspection.
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BEHMR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022512A31HIEFE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B 3E FET T

REVENUE Uk 5 6 408,572 362,513

Cost of sales SHERKA (235,116) (204,503)

Gross profit EF 173,456 158,010

Other income and gains E A R W g 6 9,516 6,550

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAS (53,435) (45,790)

Administrative expenses THRX (113,424) (95,143)

Other operating income/(expenses), net  HAZLIA /(B ) %458 4,866 (120)

Finance costs A& KA 8 (2,203) (2,253)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR % AT A 7 18,776 21,254

Income tax expense B 11 (6,218) (6,270)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 7572 5] A {5 5 fysis FI

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 12,558 14,984

EARNINGS PER SHARE RATEBEAELEBREF HK cents HK cents

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF B4l B

THE COMPANY

- Basic — &K 13 0.63 0.75

HK cents HK cents

AL AL

— Diluted — % 0.63 0.75
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREWER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022512A31BIEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 12,558 14,984
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hib 2wk (FiE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REZBEBAIEENDES
may be reclassified to profit or loss BaErHEMmEERE (&)
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: M ZH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEBINETSEER
operations, net fEH %55 (17,971) 29
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ARBHEEAEEER
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZEWE(FE) 848
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (5,413) 15,013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE AR R
As at 31 December 2022
#2022612A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B K& 14 130,707 110,800
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 36,184 40,577
Prepayments and deposits AT RIE kiR 21 9,556 4,766
Goodwill SIS 16 361 1,532
Other intangible assets HEmEmpaE 17 6,055 977
Financial asset at fair value BATESABZRN
through profit or loss SRBE 18 5,803 5,599
Deferred tax assets BLEFIAEE 26 504 407
Total non-current assets JEmBEEEE 189,170 164,658
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories e 19 68,758 65,112
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 20 42,923 53,692
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE -« Re &k
other receivables Hth i W OB 21 16,982 15,385
Pledged deposits BT R 22 14,138 =
Cash and cash equivalents B MNBEEEY 22 62,325 102,101
Tax recoverable EEEE R 771 80
Total current assets mENEELE 205,897 236,370
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B S ENZIE 23 53,572 55,763
Other payables and accruals HEfb BN RIBEREREA 24 40,808 39,932
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BERTTIE 25 17,865 13,622
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 14,979 11,417
Tax payable FES R TE 8,297 7,854
Total current liabilities mEN A EERE 135,521 128,588
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 70,376 107,782
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EELBERRBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 259,546 272,440
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEMS
Other payables E T RIE 24 442 626
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT BIRITIERK 25 3,017 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 15,209 21,109
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIRAE 26 1,618 1,039
Total non-current liabilities BB EERE 20,286 22,774
Net assets EEFE 239,260 249,666
EQUITY xS
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE AELER
the Company
Share capital &N 27 20,000 20,000
Reserves EE 29 219,260 229,666
Total equity G- Fn 239,260 249,666

CHAN Sing Ming Barry [FREZEH
Chairman and Executive Director

FERPITEF
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Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GARNBBHE

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022512A31BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARER AER
Share  Exchange
Share Share Merger option fluctuation Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
S B3 RE BHfRE  ERERE NERDRE RE R EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tir Tz THr T TR T T
(note 27)  (note 29(c))  (note 29(a)) (note 28)  (note 29(b))
(H&27)  (MaE29(c)  (Pi7E29(a)) (WizE28)  (BizE29(b))
At 1 January 2021 1202151 A18 20,000 277,051 (193,538) 8 (588) 133,193 236,126
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - 14,984 14,984
Other comprehensive FREMZANE
income for the year
Exchange differences on translation AERNEBEER
of foreign operations, net EREBTE - - - - 29 - 29
Total comprehensive income for ENE2EYEEE
the year - - - - 29 14,984 16,013
Equity-settled share option arrangement  JRALE S8 i it
(note 28) (Ft28) - - - 27 - - 27
Final dividend (note 12) RERE(HE12) - - - - - (1,500) (1,500)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F 128318 K
1 January 2022 2022F1 718 20,000 277,051*  (193,538)* 35% (559)* 146,677* 249,666
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 12,558 12,558
Other comprehensive FREMZEER
loss for the year
Exchange differences on translation AEEINEBEER
of foreign operations, net EREETE - - - - (17,97) - (17,971)
Total comprehensive incomeffloss) for ~ ER2EYE/(FE)
the year ek - - - - (17,971) 12,558 (5.413)
Equity-settled share option arrangement R4 &8 IR L4
(note 28) (MTH ) - - - 7 - - 7
Final dividend (note 12) k8 (fitE12) - - - - - (5,000) (5,000)
At 31 December 2022 12022%12A31H 20,000 277,0561*  (193,538)* 42* (18,530)* 154,235* 239,260
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$219,260,000 (2021: * RIEAMBIRNE  ZSHEBREOIEEA #E219,260,000/%

HK$229,666,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

7£(20214F : 229,666,000/ 7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/]_\/\fﬁzﬁlﬂbiﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022512A31HIEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3E FET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETE2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R 7 BT Y4 ) 18,776 21,254
Adjustments for: AT SIEELFHE
Finance costs BhE B AR 8 2,203 2,253
Interest income F B WA 6 (471) (264)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE - BEKEE
property, plant and equipment, net BB KEE (ks ) 58 7 154 (178)
COVID-19-related rent concessions RE B ARCOVID-1948
from lessors BAHeER 6 (179) (304)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BE MRIEITE
equipment 7 15,433 16,373
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b i 7 345 38
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RIEEREAEEEN
assets, net U 55 F 58 7 - (5)
Fair value gain on a financial asset at BAFEFABRNEH
fair value through profit or loss, net BE A FENEFHE 7 (198) (195)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 7 11,919 10,658
Impairment losses on trade receivables & 5 &Y I8 805 E & 18 7 674 49
Impairment of goodwill EERE 7 1,534 -
Provision for/(reversal of provision for) FERE, (B2 Em)
inventories 7 (433) 782
Equity-settled share option expense BRAN A5 & B AR AR A 2 7 27
Amortisation of a government grant BT 178 Bh i 8 (140) (145)
49,624 50,343
Increase in inventories FEEM (9,391) (13,845)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables ‘& 5 U RIE (38 hn) 5 4> 8,030 (17,130)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TEfRIE « e REMmEIK
deposits and other receivables FIEEM), R 1,503 (5,173)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e sRIEE N 800 9,978
Increase in other payables Hith e IE R EETE B
and accruals 0 2,912 21,802
Cash generated from operations KEEIRE 53,478 45,975
Hong Kong profits tax paid BRI EBFEH (385) (677)
Overseas taxes paid B8R (4,841) (755)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & EBFFEIRESMEE5E 48,252 44,543
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received [ AN 471 264
Purchases of items of property, plant Eiﬁ%% ME K& EEE
and equipment, including a related (BIE—IBRBEBEMNRIE)
prepayment (53,060) (35,454)
Additions to other intangible assets ANEEMBREEE = (732)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEDE  BENKREER
property, plant and equipment B P18 208 32 551
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —RIF B 2 7 30 (5,890) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset H&EEAFEE ABZE
at fair value through profit or loss Z e REEMNFSRIE 85 =
Increase in pledged time deposits B3 E B FOE N (10,117) =
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & EENFTAIR ©HEF5E (68,479) (35,371)

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERETRBR

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022512A31BIEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHHERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FTILIRITE R 13,000 =
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (8,841) (7,541)
Interest paid BEAFLE (2,203) (2,253)
Principal portion of lease payments HENROAREEH (10,891) (10,391)
Dividend paid BEfIRE (5,000) (1,500)
Net cash flows used in financing activities g& & EFTH
RETmEFHE (13,935) (21,685)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HERBEESEEY
EQUIVALENTS A FEER (34,162) (12,513)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#H & RESZEEY
of year 102,101 114,743
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EREEN S EFEE
changes, net (1,593) (129)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XBE2REELZEY
END OF YEAR 66,346 102,101
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HeRREESENERIW
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R4 RIBTTEES 22 52,291 42,683
Non-pledged time deposits with original R RFE =187 N2
maturity of less than three months IR B TFE AR
when acquired 22 10,034 59,418
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 2RI BARRKNER S R
in the statement of financial position HEEEY 62,325 102,101
Time deposits with original maturity GERERE=MANEHA
of less than three months when B ARITERNERRZ
acquired, pledged as security TEFER
for bank loans 4,021 =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated ZIRBERERNEER
in the statement of cash flows REEED 66,346 102,101

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2022 FERSE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. The registered office address of the Company
is Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15
Cheung Yue Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Group was principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of
printing products.

On 12 March 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") on 2
January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the Company,
and, in the opinion of the Directors, is also the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R BT 5
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAREEER(E
Information about subsidiaries it /B A~ =l Ky E R

AARMBARNFBEHIIMNT :

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
) SMAL, ERTEER/ -
AR ERE {2 R & St B AR RABEMGERADL TBEK
Direct Indirect
B i
Cirtek Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRAHES (E REER
Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
SXHRIERAR BE 10,0007 70 HE ERIEm
Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. (note (a))  People's Republic of US$6,234,178 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of
BESEEIRERAR (M) China (“PRC") 6,234,178% T printing products
REANRLME ([HE]) EERHENRER
Charming Trim & Packaging (VN) Co., Ltd. Vietnam US$3,100,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of
i 3,100,000% T printing products
EERHENRER
Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Dormant
Limited &k 2% R
Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd. Bangladesh BDT50,000,000 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
EEyIIEA 50,000,000 printing products
RMAER FEREENRER
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd. Bangladesh BDT5,000,000 - 100  Dormant
) kA 5,000,000 W
RMAER
Charming Trim India Private Limited India INR100,000 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
N 100,000 E B Lt printing products
EERHENRER
Charming Trim & Packaging (PVT.) Limited Pakistan PKR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
BEHA 100,000 & DRI E
EEAAEL
Charming Trim & Packaging, Inc United States of US$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
America 10,000%7T and provision of
ENBERE customer services
HENRERRRHEF
FR 75
Lowatag Limited Hong Kong HK$150,002 - 100 Investment holding
BE 150,002/ 7T REER

BEZRBRDA © 2022 FERE 61



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIES SRR MR

31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AEREBER(E
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) B RATMNER(Z)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
) SEMA, ERLER/ ) \
NEAE i B R & S st B SRR AR AARELERT DL TEER
Direct Indirect
Ef iF
Charming Europe BVBA Belgium EUR50,000 - 100  Provision of customer
AL 50,0008 T services
RAEE P RS
Cirtek Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
FERUNBERAT BB 10,0007 7T BEZR
Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited (note (b)) ~ PRC US$1,000,000 - 100  Provision of customer
BEB R CORIDARAR (M b) ] 1,000,0005 7 services
RER P RS
Charming Trim Etiket Limited Sirketi Turkey TL10,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of
THH 10,000,000 printing products
THESN EERHENRER
Charming Trim Italy SRL Italy EUR10,000 - 100 Provision of customer
BEAR 10,0008 T services
REE P RS
Charming Trim & Packaging Sociedad Guatemala (GTQ499,900 - 100 Provision of customer
Anonima B SR 499,9001& 3 54 services
KRER RER P RS
Charming Trim Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico MXN2,600,000 - 100  Provision of customer
BREF 2,600,0002FFHE services
REZPRS
Charming Trim Lanka Limited Sri Lanka LKR1,000 - 100  Dormant
LIRS 1,004 M REL W
Print100 Limited (note (c)) Hong Kong HK$15,997,980 - 100  Manufacturing and sale of
LA E)) BE 15,997,980/ 7T (2021:Nil)  printing products
100 HERHENRER
(20215 - &)
Yinyibai Digital Color Printing (Shenzhen) ~ PRC RMB100,000 - 100  Product sourcing
Co. Limited (note (b)) HE AR%100,0007C (2021: Nil) business
NEBHBHENORINFRA R (PEEb)) 100 EmFEES
(20215 : &)
Charming Trim Spain, Sociedad Limited Spain EUR5,000 - 100  Provision of customer
ilplis 5,000B1 7T (2021: Nil) services
100 REEPRSE
(20217 : &)

Notes:

(a)  This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the laws of the

PRC.

(b) These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the laws of the PRC.

(c) During the year, the Group acquired Print100 Limited. Further details of this
acquisition are included in note 30 to the financial statements.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 REEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss which has been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between shareholders of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

ZEUBREDEREB A (FEg
SRR E DR EEM B RS LR ([ FEH
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁHME%%ﬁé%%%ﬁ%ﬁW*
BEFER([HEEEE ] RBRE) &
@%2&@%&%% BHERDIR T BE 4R E 4R

%c

REVBRRTIBELKAEREL - ERAF
B ABaNEeREEARATERE - %%
MR AETINE - FRE BRI - AR
BEEABREREMNTA(TATT) °

REANRREE

FEVBBRREEAEEEE20226F12 A31
HIEFENPHRE - HIBARERAARE
ESHEEFNER(BELABEERE) - BX
SEBASELEHRNEBEB MAE]Z
EFMREKKEEZ AR ZRIHR - WHEED
ERHFEHEHREN(NE FAEEER G
ﬁu;%&ﬁﬁ%mmﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬂ%/
7L OREF - AR RIERIEHIE -

—ﬁﬁg'ﬁﬁﬁﬁk% DR E AR

c EARTEXAMEREGINREHRK
y%&m%iﬁwﬁﬁ'WKE@Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ
&éﬂ%% AR EE—URBEEER
5 - B

(a) EREHREMRERFTEANGHNR
B

(o) REEMADHZHHRERN : Rk
(c) AEEWEBRRENEERTRE -

B8 R B R BA TS R DR AR RN A —
HRmE - XEMA - EE - B AR
ZEEAASEBGEGEE R RZRE AR
WHERA ABREEZIERIERIEE AL -

BakEMEERaEN AR D BASER
NEVER AR RO EIGE D - BRI
1S BOE R s MR B A s B - PR B A RIS
FEFERRzHARGNEBANEEREE - #
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
p s E R

31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying

HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable

to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of
the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at
the acquisition date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that occurred on or after
1 January 2022. As there were no contingent assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities within the scope of the amendments
arising in the business combination that occurred during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

2.2 S BREBERKE(F)

RN AEBERNEER BBV BREEL T
LREEHAMMT
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REEEHPELE  AERBBBMB®R
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O REBIDRB A EEN ISR B
ARG - NEEE RN 2022F1
B1BS 2 BEEMERS FIRATRNZ
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories,
in profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there
was no sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January
2022 and no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other's behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022.
As there was no modification or exchange of the Group's
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 EEHEMRERWE BT REXED
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised RRA B RIZF FER AT B B R R A
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these el MBI E B S HE R -

financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

FRMBWEER

REEZHAR 1A
FIORLRBBEE HAELLEZAR

Associate or Joint venture® RIZE 285k (185 A) BEMHENFE
(20114)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and EBB SRS L E#ELmHE 8 (&2

Leaseback?

F165R(BFTAN)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ BB ks 2R REgE A
E WL
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' ® BB ERE AR REEE A" °
FEN7HUBETR)
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 BB GRS XA K FE FH 2 BB 7R 2R
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative EAWEACEH PN HEAE 175K
Information® BB R &R
FEOF- LB EHIE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

EREHENE IR BESHEBRBHHF

Current or Non-current (the "2020 (1BETA) 7B ([2020%F
Amendments")? 4 1BEIA )24

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

EREEAENF IR WA IR

Covenants (the "2022 CHEN) BE([20226F
Amendments")? 1ERTAN)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020
Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In
addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

° As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS

39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

g An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification
overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

2.3 BREMENRERNETBUHIREER ()

FHRBRHERAEE 22 EEBMBREE
AZ E—HEBER T °

EBMBHREENFI0RRE B ELSF
2857 (20114 ) (BRI A) St BBV B ME %
BIZE105 R BB ST 2RI5E 285 (20116 ) 2
MEBREEREREA NS ELEZHN
BEHNEITEMBER TN —BUE - ZEE
FIAE BEREEFHEEBENRRNALENEY
MZEEHES TERKR —BESE  B2%K
ERATHRIEEZREZNEE - EXSH R
TREK—BEBRZEER  AZRXSEEZI
HREERZINEE ZBENER - HEUR
R EERNZBE AR RAEE RSB
R o ZEERIBAIERA - B85S ENZE
FER201651 AGIGRBSMBRELEAZE10
SN BB G ERFE 285 (20114F ) (BFTA)
KA fESR HI AR 20 B ER - i 3 A9 o8 i A ik B HR oS
REBENFREETENSHREEHER
WHIRETREETE o AT » RSIERT IR A R
}Eﬁo



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 EEMAEMRENNE BT EREED (Z)

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over whether
an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the
HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by
an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The Group is in the process of
making an assessment of the impact of the amendment to HKAS 12
upon initial application, but is not in a position to state whether the
amendment would have significant impact on its results of operation
and financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Software licences and trademark

Purchased software licences and trademark are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-
of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

2 to 30 years
10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IEeiHHEME(E)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

EETHEBE(E)

Frig%i (42)

EEBIREERAAATHRERZE - KRB
%)EEIETK%&Eﬁﬂi@Jﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂ’%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ
R EIERIA R N Al a8 Al B RS R
RE AR R KR AR R E R A E A
PRI SH B RR Bl B T DARERR - IE R BT
SIEI

o WMBERERENARETENIREETE
#%i%é.\fﬁs&%qﬂ%ﬂiﬁﬁﬁmé{f*%% El
EE - BERSGERUTZESEMK
FERBE M AR - &

o MHEMBRARKRENAHNHRERZEM
5 EERAEEENERERAEER
ARPRAT T HREE - B =R A 4 (R 8N
R ER 5k By R

RIETHIREEREEN S REHAETER
ETBARE EHERTOaM A HB A2
E‘BT%?EL%RLE&FH#H#ﬁ@E?Dﬂ RIERIE
JETRIAE ER RS HREH T jiEATéE%
B R HFE SRR I AT Uk ] 2 R 5 7R IR AE T
HEER TIAMER -

EEDIREER ABEDIRARSREESFE
BESNRERNREAE  TEREREHR
RIERMRELE LD BEMNRE(RBR) &

=
s-°

BEAEEAF RN TENA KRR AEE
EEAHAEBERE - BRENIAEEMR
EHREAERR—HEEELNE — ERE R
FX*X%ﬁﬁ%ﬁK%Lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiéi
HEYFER  BRFRAELENNRIEAS
L\ZiéififiF?HT”*iiéifili BEAENTRM
BEEBHKHMMENAR - ARTEHAEER
EIETIR B AR TR o



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
estimates the goods that will not be returned using the
most likely amount method to predict the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the services
have been provided to customers.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level
of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at
the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’'s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“Equity-Settled Transactions”).

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for Equity-Settled
Transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

EETHEBE(E)

BRRABENHABL/RED D REBURMEEE
FAME (SR UYUR) - WIRAEE HZ TR
REBENSETE - AREERSEBREHAR
FHERRRABE(RRZERNEEREE) D
fli&t o

BURRAD B BT

ARRRR BRI S - AR 420 & B3 T
HARKHEERIEHERMN G ER2EE -

AEEES (BRES) GRARND BERMK
FAMEEN S - TR 8 &R HARTS IR EUR AR
TRA(BRAEEZS]) °

R2002F 1M A7B 2B EE B#ETHRALEE
REMKATIZBIEEE AN AFEFHE -
FETHINEMEERMERA ZEENET - #
T IBEN SRR 28 ©

[

P AN 5 B 52 55 B K 7 328 (R i ) AR FE T 0 2 1
EIRB K LIRS G 80 HIRE HME & 18 F B
xR - REBRASHRERRARABER
SUERH) Rt X R R R B HIC Em #k () kA
SEE KR KR BORATARE RAENRE
5t - BERAER — B A PTERG IR SE R
T RS BV BR AR TSR R TR L ) Z & o



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees who
are eligible and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the schemes, except for the Group's employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant companies
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rate for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and
assessing the constraint for the sale of printing products

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include a right
of return that give rises to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method based on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for the sale of printing products with rights of return, given the large
number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the
estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its
historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration
will be resolved within a short time frame.

4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its items of property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and its competitor actions. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are shorter
than those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy as disclosed in the relevant part of this
section. The recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use
of estimates.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the printing
product sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and assesses whether any provision made
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on
the carrying values of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December
2022 was HK$68,758,000 (2021: HK$65,112,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2022 was HK$361,000 (2021: HK$1,532,000) and
impairment of goodwill of HK$1,534,000 (2021: Nil) was recognised
during the year. Further details are given in note 16.

Purchase price allocation of a business combination

The purchase price allocation of the Group’s business combination,
as detailed in note 30 to the financial statements, requires the
determination of fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The net assets acquired, include amongst others,
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, of which
their fair values are dependent on a range of estimates including
estimated future cash flows of the underlying business, discount
rate and interest rate. Given the uncertainties in the estimation, the
actual outcomes may be higher or lower than the estimated fair
values of these items as at the date of acquisition. Where the actual
outcomes of these items are different from the amounts initially
recorded, such differences may impact the future financial results.
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31 December 2022
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KRENHER
For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable EBEENMS  AEEEE AR 2HRES
operating segment, which is the manufacture and sale of printing S BAEEREENRIER °
products.
Geographical information I35 &
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) SMEBEF WS
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Mainland China FR B A3 137,517 119,647
Hong Kong 6 78,373 74,336
Bangladesh EamiiEavs 60,481 46,772
Vietnam B 43,526 22,800
United States ESET 16,655 23,238
Others Efh 72,020 75,820
408,572 362,513
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the i BRI TR IR R PR 25 o
customers.
(b) Non-current assets (b) FERENEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Mainland China A 5] A 3 80,168 97,561
Bangladesh eamIEavs 45,594 29,422
Vietnam e 9,958 10,246
Hong Kong 6 29,633 2,714
Other countries H B 14,850 17,353
180,203 157,296
The non-current asset information above is based on the L 3EmEN & E B R IIIRIE & E AT i 4R
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and 2 W TAEREERTAMELERBEE -

deferred tax assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about a major customer
Revenue from a major customer, including a group of entities which

are known to be under common control with that customer, which
accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below:

KEAEER(E)
EHRETEEFNER
REGAEBRZE10%HA LN —BEERS

(BREMEZEPZARZEHN—AEE) D
WasgEkslan T

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ExT FHET

Customer A ZEA 43,501 40,853

The revenue from the above major customer was all derived from
the sale of printing products.

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates.

An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as

RELRTERFPHREHESBHENRE

og °
Wz - EAWA R s

Wi B HBRERE B RENERFHRE
HESRMNERFE -

AREER W - BB ARSI

follows:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers EE &N
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) YWzsZ| 5 &R
Types of goods or services Emy RS iEa
Sale of printing products 5 BRI E B 408,572 362,513
Geographical markets 35 T 45
Mainland China A A 137,517 119,547
Hong Kong B 78,373 74,336
Bangladesh EamIEava 60,481 46,772
United States = 16,655 23,238
Vietnam B 43,526 22,800
Others Efh 72,020 75,820
408,572 362,513
Timing of revenue recognition SR U 2 Y B 7S
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—FRZEBY
B 408,572 362,513
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31 December 2022
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 6. W= HWARKE(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEPENWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) W27 B ER(E)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRINTREYEFTASHBENEERK
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of W&
the year:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Sale of printing products HEERIE @ 10,975 6,511
(i) Performance obligations (i) JBAIEIF
Sale of printing products 25 & EJfl 2 in
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the RS ERRZMNENRIEMBERK - MTR
printing products and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 — MR RBFT30E0KRAEIER - R
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment F—RBRHELNK - MG OIRAES
in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide BRERE  EAAXBRHEATERE -
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or FR2022F [ 2021F12 A31 B T RE
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are part of B SR ER 9 EERK B B 40 & & JR E T8 HA 4 A
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or B—FRKAANEN 2 —H5  MIBRES
less, the transaction price allocated to such is not disclosed, as B TSRS R 155 Rl TR E A UAFT
permitted by the practical expedient in HKFRS 15. REF WERBOEZEEBEEANRSE
1% o
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHxT FHAT
Other income and gains H g A R i
Freight and transportation income B8 REH KA 2,365 1,694
Interest income B YA 471 264
Sale of scrap materials HEREEME 2,133 2,188
Government grants* XA R B * 2,622 341
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME  BERZEEREEB
plant and equipment, net KW F 5 = 178
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use KILERERAEEE
assets, net KW R E = 5
COVID-19-related rent concessions from KA AR COVID-1948E
lessors Hed= 179 304
Fair value gain on financial assets at BEAFEFABRHNESREE
fair value through profit or loss, net AN EN TR 198 195
Others HAth 1,548 1,481
9,516 6,550

* As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching to the government grants that had been recognised by
the Group.
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7.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AN B RR R AR FAANRR (T A) T 5I& 18
1RIEEL -
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FHT
Cost of sales” SHE R AR 235,116 204,503
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment 14 15,433 16,373
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15 11,919 10,658
Amortisation of other intangible assets H{th 8 A i 17 345 38
Short-term lease expenses SHIRERY 15 1,161 777
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMAZ (TR
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): EEHM(FIEE9))
Wages and salaries TERF® 138,856 124,138
Pension scheme contributions BIRBETEIMEK
(defined contribution scheme)** * (REHFRETE)*** 17,843 12,744
156,699 136,882
Government grants** B #6d By * * (2,622) (341)
Auditor’'s remuneration % B 3 A 2,200 2,078
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net* [E 5 E518 (Ueek ) /558 * (7,228) 71
Impairment of trade receivables* H 5 RN IBRE 20 674 49
Impairment of goodwill* SR 16 1,534 =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME  BERZHE
property, plant and equipment* BEVER (Urzs ) 154 (276)
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RILERERAEEER
assets, net e 558 = (5)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair R AFET ABZEH
value through profit or loss, net EBMEEATE
Wzt 58 (198) (195)

*%

These items are included in “Other operating income/(expenses), net” on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

The government grants have been received from the local government. It mainly
represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to the local
government and the acquisition of the Group's new machines, whose compensation
are transferred from deferred income to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
relevant assets, and the government grant from the Employment Support Scheme
from the Hong Kong government in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies during the
year. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

Cost of inventories sold includes HK$72,439,000 (2021: HK$67,082,000) of employee
benefit expense, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above
for each of these types of expenses. Included in cost of sales was also reversal of
provision for inventories of HK$433,000 (2021: provision of HK$782,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

This item is included in “Other operating income/(expenses), net” (2021: “Other income
and gains”) on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2022.

*%

* XX

ZEHEEREE2022% &2021F12A31 A L FE 4R
AEHERP [HiEERA /(%) FEIFIR -

BUR #8858 BB ATURER » B = B8 & BT S N
B AR IR 18 S M A SR B T RS - TR AR E R
HREERRPRAEEREEHREERS - URBER
¥ & M ECOVID-1948 88 & BY 5% 1O [ FR 3 351 &) | B AT
HHEL o ZE B A AR (R SR RIRE -

1A P AN SR B B X AT B A DU A R B HFUK T/
BRI -

BEFERAE1E72,439,000/% 7T (20214 :67,082,000
BIL)NEBEFFAIRYE  BERREAREREE
EFNE (A LX#HZES AR REAARERE) -
HZE2022F128318 L FE - FEEE 2 #[E1433,000
7BIT(20214F « ##782,00087T) INE st A S &R -

ZIEEHREE2022F12A31 B EFEMEGEIEREXR
[HAREE A /(B ) /F58 (20214 « [H Al A Rk
= )FIR -
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2022F12H31H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: AKX
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHT
Interest on bank loans IRITE AL 469 606
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,734 1,647
2,203 2,253
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION 9. EERFETHAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed RIE EMAR - BB R FFHIE383(1)(a) *
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of (b) ~ (Cj&(f”‘%uﬁﬁa(ﬁﬁgﬁgﬁjﬁﬁ*@ﬁ
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BIE2BEBENAFEESEREETHASM
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is ST ¢
as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fees we 540 585
Other emoluments: HME S -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He  EZMNEYET 2,980 3,306
Performance related bonuses FRIBIEEEIEAL 2,000 1,800
Pension scheme contributions RIS TR 53 52
5,573 5,743
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the FALNTFBIERTEFTHRSOT
year were as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Dr. Wong Chi Wing* FEEBL* - 132
Ms. Luk Mei Yan** FEER & L** 180 93
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong FEESEE 180 180
Mr. Lam Chor Ki, Dick MR A 180 180
540 585
*  Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 18 June * %%‘?E%ﬁ#iﬂﬁ§$ © B202146A18H A
2021 %
**  Appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 25 June > BRZERBUIFNITESE - 52021F6725H
2021 A
There were no other emoluments payable to independent non- F R R FEA T 08 S IEENTT E 5 A9 B A B
executive directors during the year (2021: Nil). £ (20214 : &) »
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(Continued)

(b) Executive directors

9. ESRIETHAEBME(E

(b) BTES

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
=14 35} Bife
ik BUEA HEEA TR fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FEL THT TBx
Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ2022F12A31A L5
Mr. Barry Chan REH %L - 1,284 800 18 2,102
Ms. Candy Law BEYBLT - 1,132 800 18 1,950
Mr. James Chan yedc S - 564 400 17 981
- 2,980 2,000 53 5,033
Year ended 31 December 2021  HZ2021F12A318 L EE
Mr. Barry Chan FREERR LA - 1,773 800 18 2,591
Ms. Candy Law BB L - 1,220 800 18 2,038
Mr. James Chan [ryed S - 313 200 16 529
- 3,306 1,800 52 5,158

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

FR - BEMEITULHRRERRBRE

{EIH BN (20214F « £E) o

FR - ARERBEREENHH - R

PN SEIE W PN TSR 2 i
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. ABBRSHFEE
The five highest paid employees during the year included FR - AEREFEERE—HR(2021F : M
one director (2021: two directors) of the Company, details of ZEE)ARNAES @ HHE SN XXM
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the F9 c A TNINZ(20214F : =R)ANRAIEES
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2021: three) highest e EENANEENGTMEEH DT -

paid employees who are non-director of the Company are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREMERN 9,726 6,422
Pension scheme contributions RIKEETEIE K 285 339
10,011 6,761
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose BRUTHMAERMNIEESS S HEE AW
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: o
2022 2021
20224 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z1,000,00078 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ C 22,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/8 022,500,000/ 70 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7C23,000,00078 70 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T 3,500,000/ 7T 1 1
4 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of ERX - AEEGERTAFEESSTSFEEX
the non-director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or B - VB A DDA ZN 2 (B S5 A0 A B B 22 B 5k B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021: BB (20214 : ) -
Nil).
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11. INCOME TAX 1. Fi5#H

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2021:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%). PRC tax has been provided at the rate of 256%
(2021: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC
during the year. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United
States, a company which is treated as a corporation for the United
States federal income tax purposes was subject to tax at a rate of
21% (2021: 21%) at the federal level during the year and was also
subject to the statutory corporate income tax in state and local tax
jurisdictions. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

BIEFREHERNABRE IS RA
AEBMBERHSEE R EBE TS HN
TAMEBH - R BEFNEGHEHRREE
EENEFERRFIE16.5% (2021 4F :
16.5% ) T RHR BB - HEASE B A
ARSI - ZMB AR AR AFESHMAHNE
B2 o ZHIB AT EE2,000,000/8 7T (20214 :
2,000,000 7T ) A & FR B4 )i 71)328.25% (2021
F :8.25% ) MR RBF - 82T FER T % 7 Al
1%16.5% (20214 : 16.5% ) T REF - A EH
TR I8 T Bk 6 A R B B A O 5 B AR RO iR
TR 25% (20214F : 25% )T - RIEE
B8R B RGBS IS TS H M S A8
BEBRCEM AT AR21% (20214 : 21%)
R SR R AN B DA - IR RSN 1D K it 75 AR S
AARERAVATE RS - EEMM S FE
R A AN B TE B IR AR SR B IS T AE
BEROERHETE o

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Current — Hong Kong BNH— &%

Charge for the year FRRZ 239 2,415
Overprovision in prior years R FEEBERE (219) _

Current — Elsewhere BHA— E fb [
Charge for the year FRRAEZ 5,976 3,941
Deferred (note 26) IRAE (Kt3E26) 222 (86)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIBR T 258 6,218 6,270
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202212A31H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FTiEH(E)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

AR IBOA TE o0 28 P 0 Ak T BT O ) 0 75 TR B 2 2
REERBEOHAFR L ROT

follows:
2022 2021
202245 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FaxT FABT
Profit before tax Rk 5 BT s ) 18,776 21,254
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BOEEME16.5%T ENFHIE 3,098 3,507
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 5 & BB ER R R (3,206) (1,842)
Effect of different tax rates for different TREEEETRF RN E
jurisdictions 3,060 1,417
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BLiBE HAR B ER R 18
previous periods FTEH A9 FA & (219) -
Income not subject to tax BAERGEA (1,217) (492)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 3,354 3,179
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BESHFNESAHREEE (1,230) (173)
Tax losses not recognised RER T IAE B 2,628 728
Others Efh (50) (54)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate BRAREEEERERIE33.1%
of 33.1% (2021: 29.5%) (20214F : 29.5%)aTHE
IER Y 6,218 6,270
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Proposed final dividend — HK0.20 cents EEARE - EBRT AR
(2021: HKO0.25 cents) per ordinary share 0.20781l (20214 : 0.25/%
1) 4,000 5,000

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

FERZBZRPBBAFTARRRBIRNEERER
EEREEIE -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 13. AR F#EE AELERER
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based BRERNBFCEIIERKNATHEA AELE
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of A 12,558,000 7T (20214 : 14,984,000
HK$12,558,000 (2021: HK$14,984,000) and the weighted average BIL)ARFARAE BHTERKRINETFHGH
number of ordinary shares of 2,000,000,000 (2021: 2,000,000,000) in 2,000,000,0000% (20214 :2,000,000,0004%)
issue during the year. TE -

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share AR B ARITENERESE 2V ERELRER
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2022 and MEREEA RESERE - DR EE M
2021 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options F2022F K2021F12A31BILFEFAE5I8
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per BREARBNSTEEHTHE -

share amounts presented.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y%

- BERRRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
MENEEE MER BRREE AE EEIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T THR T T
31 December 2022 2022512318
At 1 January 2022: 202241718 :
Cost AR 17,353 227,308 8,960 2,476 14,249 270,346
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (9,646) (140,302) (7,745) (1,853) - (159,546)
Net carrying amount REEE 7,707 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
At 1 January 2022, net of #2022F1 318 -
accumulated depreciation Nk 2:E 7,107 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
Additions RE 4,149 22,952 1,476 - 20,227 48,804
Disposal bl - (173) (13) - - (186)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BB
(note 30) (Mi330) - 831 13 - - 844
Depreciation provided during the ERHTE&E (FizE7)
year (note 7) (653) (13,597) (833) (350) - (15,433)
Exchange realignment 5 (1,012) (8,343) (236) (1) (4,520) (14,122)
At 31 December 2022, netof 202246128318 -
accumulated depreciation Mk 2:H7E 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
At 31 December 2022: 120224124318 :
Cost AR 20,065 231,440 9,243 1,843 29,956 292,547
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (9,874) (142,764) (7,621) (1,581) - (161,840)
Net carrying amount REFE 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707
31 December 2021 2021%12R318
At 1 January 2021: R2021%1A18 :
Cost AR 15,649 205,567 7,953 2,399 - 231,568
Accumulated depreciation 2itiE (8,640) (123,316) (7,142) (1,490) - (140,588)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,009 82,251 811 909 - 90,980
At 1 January 2021, net of #2021€1 A18 -
accumulated depreciation M 2:t7E 7,009 82,251 811 909 - 90,980
Additions NE 1,977 19,091 1,334 288 14,297 36,987
Disposal HE - (159) (1) (213) = (373)
Depreciation provided during the R E& & (Kizk7)
year (note 7) (970) (14,462) (579) (362) - (16,373)
Exchange realignment A% (309) 285 (350) 1 (48) (421)
At 31 December 2021, netof  #2021412 8318 -
accumulated depreciation Nk 25t 7,707 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
At 31 December 2021: #2021€12A318 :
Cost KA 17,353 227,308 8,960 2,476 14,249 270,346
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (9,646) (140,302) (7,745) (1,853) - (159,546)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,707 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
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14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group's plant and machinery
with a net book value of approximately HK$5,172,000 were pledged
to secure certain of the bank loans of the Group as detailed in note
25.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, and
plant and machinery used in its operations. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease terms of ten years, while buildings
generally have lease terms between two to thirty years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14. Y% BEREREE

15.

M2021F 128318 AEERERFEL A
5,172,000 M E THE RSB HEA - U
EESRTASBE 2 ETRITER(GFRBREWE
25)

HE

REBEERARA
AEERZRBREYARKE L ESEBRA
HESHK  AHEZEMA - BiFE k#sr074
E—RESARTE MEFHOEE-RERS
TE=TF o M5 AKETARAEHE
DIONATEE R D EEEEE ©

(a) (EREEE

AEBEFAERABEEENREEREHN
™

Plant and
Buildings machinery Total
BT EE o

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR

As 1 January 2021 #®2021F1 A18 30,820 12,297 43,117

Additions NE 7,598 - 7,598

Depreciation charge (note 7) ERZ (M) (8,801) (1,857) (10,658)

Derecognition BRIERER (477) = (477)

Exchange realignment fE X AR 633 364 997
As at 31 December 2021 and 20219128310 &202251 410

1 January 2022 29,773 10,804 40,577

Additions NE 10,243 - 10,243

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) Ui —RAFT B 2 7 (B 3E30) - 285 285

Depreciation charge (note 7) TERZ (M) (10,034) (1,885) (11,919)

Exchange realignment L (2,226) (776) (3,002)

As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12A318 27,756 8,428 36,184
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15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

15. HE(E

REBERABRANE)

(b)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

HEEE

HEEEMNREERFAZLENT :

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount at 1 January A1 ATEMERAEE 32,526 33,447
New leases HHEE 10,175 9,519
Additions as a result of acquisition of a (R s B — R BT /BB 8 =) i 85 0
subsidiary (note 30) (BH7E30) 1,060 -
Accretion of interest recognised FRERFSIE N
during the year 1,734 1,647
Payments 3R (12,625) (12,038)
Termination of leases KIEHRE - (482)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from a7 ABCOVID-19+8
lessors HEBEE (179) (304)
Exchange realignment TE 5 AR (2,503) 737
Carrying amount at 31 December R®12A31 HREREE 30,188 32,526
Analysed into: bakiv=1
Current portion MENEB S 14,979 11,417
Non-current portion IEmENEB D 15,209 21,109

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to

the financial statements.

Certain of the Group's lease liabilities were guaranteed by
unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company as at 31

December 2022 and 2021.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

HEEBEIH B DTN RKMEEI7

0 -

M20224 20214612 A318 » AEEE
FHEBBIRAQRRG FHERAR

FERATHER o



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R M EE
15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREBIEAFRBAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are (c) REZTFHEREEEE@ENSELOT :
as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 1,734 1,647
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTREEENERX 11,919 10,658
Expense relating to short-term leases R HTRE A MRS
(included in administrative expenses) (GTATTEFAR) 1,161 777
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use BIFERFEREEED
assets, net W e 58 - (5)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from K E EHFHEAKICOVID-1948 7
lessors HEBER (179) (304)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RERERNESTE 14,635 12,773
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to the (d) MENRESREAERBENMBRRNE

financial statements. 31(c) °
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16. GOODWILL 16. IHE
Total
b
HK$'000
31 December 2022 2022F12H31H FET
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 7202241 A1 BRI (kR 25HRE)
accumulated impairment 1,532
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) Wb — R B A B (Mf95E30) 361
Impairment during the year FRRE (1,534)
Exchange realignment P N 2
Cost and net carrying amount at 72022912 A31 BH KA K REFE
31 December 2022 361
At 31 December 2022: 202291283118 :
Cost AN 1,895
Accumulated impairment RETRE (1,534)
Net carrying amount IREDFE 361
31 December 2021 2021%F12H31H
At 1 January 2021: #R2021F1 818 :
Cost AR 1,523
Accumulated impairment 2ERE =
Net carrying amount BREEE 1,523
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of 7202141 A1 B BRA (FOk 25HRE)
accumulated impairment 1,523
Exchange realignment FE 5, 3 28 9
At 31 December 2021 20219128318 1,532
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022: 12021912 A31H KX2022F1 818 :
Cost AN 1,532
Accumulated impairment 2ERE -
Net carrying amount BREVFE 1,532
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. HE(E&)
Impairment testing of goodwill EERRERIR
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the BEBAHESHEED DEEETruecounti’
Truecount cash-generating unit (the “Truecount CGU") and to the SEEEM([TruecountlB & EEHEM |) K
Print100 cash-generating unit (the “Print100 CGU"). The carrying ERSEABEN([FRERSEESENMN]) -
amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is PREZMEAREELEBEVNEENERAES
as follows: B
Truecount Print100
CGU CGU Total
Truecount B2
REEELEN REELEN gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHAT
Carrying amount: BRE(E :
At 1 January 2021 720211818 1,523 - 1,523
Exchange realignment ME 5 3 B 9 = 9
A 31 December 2021 and M2021%F12A318 &

1 January 2022 2022F181H 1,532 - 1,532
Exchange realignment ME 54, 3 B 2 = 2
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) 48— R B A &)

(Fft5£30) - 361 361
Impairment provided during the year 4 X R{E & (1,534) - (1,534)
At 31 December 2022 1202212 A331H - 361 361
Truecount CGU Truecount¥i & = # &
The recoverable amount of the Truecount CGU has been determined TruecountiR & & 4 B {7 & A] U 6] & FEIZ 5 A
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections BEAEAFRET  Z:TEAREARESHR
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period (2021: seven- EEEH AN AER(2021F  +EH) &
year period) approved by senior management, with reference to EEETHESREE - YREYWE  BE
the expected useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and ) B E A ENTEN TSRS - B

the intangible assets. The discount rate applied to the cash flow VAt - )

projections is 19.4% (2021: 14.1%). The long-term growth rate used /ﬁiiﬁ/ﬁ”ﬁﬁ?ﬂfﬁﬁ E?f!ﬁiﬁ$z%19.4%(2021 F

to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the 14/-1 %) ° Fﬁﬁfjﬁsﬂi,ﬁﬁ(iom %11 ‘ti,ﬁﬁ)

five-year period (2021: seven-year period) is 2.0% (2021: 2.0%). WRRESELBUNRSAENKEERER
2.0% (20214 : 2.0%) °
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Print100 CGU

The recoverable amount of the Print100 CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 15.3% and the long-term growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period is
2.0%.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
cash-generating unit for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted revenue and gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted revenue and gross margins is
the average revenue and gross margins achieved in the markets,
adjusted for expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
and discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

Based on management’'s estimates, an impairment loss of
HK$1,534,000 (2021: Nil) for the Truecount CGU was recognised to
write down carrying amount of goodwill to its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2022.
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ERERSELSEUMAKRESEIZEHAE
B EARETE ZAEFARARERRE
BEMENAFHYFBEEETHNRETERE
B - RS RMETBRIFTEABRHMIAEXA15.3% -
MAREERAFHNERSESSNNESR
ENREERER2.0% °

BZE2022F12 A31HIEFE - MBEREER
AEIAAERCELABENREERIER
& o UT R ER EE TR RN ENRR2
ZMREMEBIRAMKIRA S ERREK ¢

FRERAREFE - FRAREESENEE
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B E PRI E BB AIRRR K
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HHNBE RO BRE— B o
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HtEREE

Software
licences
and
trademark
B A R EAE
HK$'000
31 December 2022 2022F12H31H FHET
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 7202241 A1 BRIBA + OBk REHEE
amortisation 977
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) Ui — IR B 2 Al (M9 5E30) 5,476
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) FEER M (FEE7) (345)
Exchange realignment PEE 5, % (53)
At 31 December 2022 72022912 A31H 6,055
At 31 December 2022: R2022F12A831H :
Cost BN 6,434
Accumulated amortisation BT (379)
Net carrying amount BREFE 6,055
31 December 2021 2021128318
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 7202146181 BHIBA -
amortisation Bk R T 270
Additions NE 732
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) F R (R EET7) (38)
Exchange realignment FE 5, 3 28 13
At 31 December 2021 20214128318 977
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022: 202112 A31H K2022F1 818 :
Cost BN 1,016
Accumulated amortisation RET#EH (39)
Net carrying amount IREFE 977

The intangible assets represent software licences and trademark
acquired from independent third parties, which have finite useful
lives of 10 years and are amortised on a straight-line basis.

BV EERWEBBIE =TSR kA
= EAERAMEAFHMAI0F  AUEREE
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

18. BAFEFABENEREE

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Key management insurance contract FEEEABRBEN 5,803 5,699
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BREEBNDTA

Non-current assets FERBEE 5,803 5,699

The key management insurance contract was mandatorily classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

Note:

As at 31 December 2022, the key management insurance contract represented life
insurance plans with investment elements relating to one member of key management
personnel of the Group. The total sum insured is US$2,000,000 (2021: US$2,000,000)
(approximately HK$15,500,000) with an annual minimum guaranteed return of 2%.

As at 31 December 2022, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contract, the account
value, net of surrender charges of US$129,000 (approximately HK$1,009,000) (2021:
US$137,000 (approximately HK$1,066,000)), would be refunded to the Group. The amount
of surrender charges decreased over time and was no longer required from the 19th year of
contract conclusion onwards.

IEEEASRBANNANRSRELIFE
RIXNASRFE  WEFBRHDBRERAT
B ABEHNESREE

fiE -

20226128318 TEERABRBRENEAZTRRE
Bl ETREARASE—REIEERABMNRERSD - AR
#8/42,000,0003% 7T.(4915,500,00074 7T ) (20214F : 2,000,000
) @ FEREREFEERR2% °

R2022F12A31H  MAKRERERBRELD @ AIRFEE
(40K 3B {R 2 129,000 7t (491,009,000 7T ) (2021 4 -
137,000% 7T (491,066,000787C) ) ) KRB TAKE - RIRE
A ERERRIER - RANKIERE19FRETHNT -

19. INVENTORIES 19. &
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT T
Raw materials R 27,976 18,275
Work in progress T2 15,214 17,215
Finished goods BUAK 25,568 29,622
68,758 65,112
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B R R M EE
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EZEWEIE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT F#T
Trade receivables B 5 WA 43,777 53,895
Impairment VEAIE] (854) (203)
42,923 53,692
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, AEBEZUFEEAXNEBERFILE HIK
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally FoMHEE—MBEEELANMK EEH—K
required. The credit period is generally within 30 to 90 days from BRAZEEBHBFS0ENARN - BHREFE
the date of monthly statements. Each customer has a maximum E=EERE AEHREsRERETHE
credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior B - AEBWAREE ZRUFIRE SRR E
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit R 3R R sk A (S B G a8 1 o B 5 WGKIE
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables TR °
are non-interest-bearing.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RIBEBK  RIEZZAHNE S EWRFIE
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss (MK EBEEE) RROTIT
allowance, is as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Within 1 month —@AM 22,278 32,952
1 to 2 months —ZmM1{EA 13,485 15,540
2 to 3 months mE={EA 2,809 2,854
Over 3 months HBB=@EA 4,351 2,346
42,923 53,692
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

20.

B2 RURIE(E)

B REGRERENERBEZERNT

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

At beginning of year F9) 203 165
Impairment losses, net (note 7) AR R FRE (FE7) 674 49
Amount written off as uncollectible 887 BT U [B] A SR IE (23) (11)
At end of year FR 854 203

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

REWmE R PRABBBREEETRESN - K
SAERHEEERE - BEXERAFRLER
A (B R) & 5P RO aE 8 B 8
B ZEtERRIAXNESR  BRBER
NHE M SNERBESE  ERGER
RREEGHTRANEIBRAIEER o

R 5 A SR D D B A0 5
HE EEAREE -

120225128318

Past due
il
Current  1to 30 days 31to 60 days 61to 90 days 91to 365 days Over 1 year Total
Ik 1230A 31Z60A 612908  91Z365A BB1F At
Expected credit loss rate  FEHEEHER 0.05% 0.09% 0.85% 4.58% 25.50% 100% 1.95%
Gross carrying amount S EAE(THET)
(HK$'000) 27,461 10,221 3,397 1,201 1,008 489 43,777
Expected creditlosses ~ BHEEHE(TEL)
(HK$'000) 15 9 29 55 257 489 854
As at 31 December 2021 A2021F128318
Past due
jal-i
Current  1t030days 31t060days 61to90days 91to365days Over 1 year Total
il 1£30H 312608 61290H 912365H BiE &
Expected credit loss rate BEIEEFEXR 0.15% 0.21% 1.19% 1.45% 3.37% 100% 0.38%
Gross carrying amount  BRAAE(THETT)
(HK$'000) 33,303 13,062 5,227 964 1,334 5 53,895
Expected creditlosses ~ EHESHE(TET)
(HK$'000) 49 28 62 14 45 b 203
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. AR

- BEREMEWRFR

2022 2021

20224 20214

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5E FET FHET

Prepayments SEERE S 12,064 10,260

Deposits and other receivables & R H M EWGKIE 14,474 9,891

26,538 20,151

Less: Non-current portion B IERBE S (a) (9,556) (4,766)

Current portion mENE D 16,982 15,385
Note: B E

(a)  The amounts mainly represent prepayments for the acquisition of property, plant and

equipment and the non-current portion of rental deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rate
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating
the expected credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables in
stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

@) EHSBEXERUEDE  BEREENEMREAR
HEZSNIFREIS °

REBRA —BARBRFABMZE - BZE& K
HipEW R EM S mEEELEHEEEER
e AEBHERHEEERXRERBES
BRIIZAEEREHCESIREL AR - A&
EE#HT ABMNRE « RE R HEERKIEN
TREESND BB IR WHEEREEFER
B o AT A Ll A5 SR H)© B0 & 2 YA B FE W KB
WM HE NS R E £ 58 o 1M 2022F &
202112 A31H ' BEBEHTIEATEK -
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

23.

22. RERBEEB/BYRESERFA

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E T#ExT FHT
Cash and bank balances & RIBITE 52,291 42,683
Time deposits TEHIFER 24,172 59,418
76,463 102,101

Less: Pledged time deposits: B BB E AT

Pledged for bank loans B ARITERE

HHRm 32 (14,138) =
Cash and cash equivalents BEMBEEEY 62,325 102,101

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to
HK$2,738,000 (2021: HK$4,210,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between fourteen days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalent approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23.

RMEIR - AEEUAARE (AR DEHE
IR & M ERTT4S 8% 52,738,000/ 7T (20214
4,210,000/7T) - ARETSERLBAEM
B A ARIR AR B A D ONE B B (R BI BA R
HIE - SERMNESERE  AEBARBAR
EITINEEBNRITEARBLRAREME
ﬁ,ﬁg °

RITESWERE B RITERFREZEHF =X
SRERFS - RHEHERCHERNF+HAZE
=ER - BFAEENERESFRIRIARE
HERERERDMAE - RITHERFHRNEE
Rif B W ET R KRLEREIRTT - RERIRE
SEMOREERE QA FERS

B2 EARE

RI|BEHR - RIBEHZAHNE 5 RN FURRR
2

BT ¢

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Within 1 month —REAR 16,391 18,564
1 to 2 months —ZMm{EA 15,658 13,815
2 to 3 months MZE=18A 8,096 10,026
Over 3 months HBiE=1EA 13,427 13,358
53,572 55,763

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30 to 150-day terms (2021: 30 to 150-day terms).

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

24, HENRIER EFTEH

2022 2021

20224 20214

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B 3E FET T

Other payables H b FE < 3RIE (a) 10,873 8,526

Accruals fE:tE A 20,235 20,284

Contract liabilities EHBE (b) 9,564 10,975

Deferred government grant IR FEER T 7 B (c) 578 773

41,250 40,558

Less: Non-current portion B IERBE S (d) (442) (626)

Current portion mENEB D 40,808 39,932
Notes: HisE :

(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit terms.

(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

(c)

(d)

(a) HMEMFBTHE  —REEERH -

b) AHEREFENT :

31 December 31 December 1 January

2022 2021 2021

2022F12A318 2021412A31H 202151 81H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FiET FHET FHT

Short-term advances received from customers & & 5 U ER 4 52 Hi E4 50 9,564 10,975 6,511

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing products to
customers. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the decrease
in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of printing
products at the end of the year. The increase in contract liabilities in 2021 was mainly
due to the increase in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the
sales of printing products at the end of the year.

The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial Finance
Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is asset-related and is amortised

over the useful lives of the related assets, which is ten years since May 2018.

The amount represents the non-current portion of a government grant.

(c)

(d)

ANEEBEIRET P T ERIE @ AT 4ER 5 B 2
Ko BRARN2022FFMRI HERARERBERP
WER A B 3 5 ENRIE 0 A2 SR B R B PR © 202154
WEEE T EE R NER B R P UEE B 8 & BRI E
VAR B TR INF B -

BRAS R A BN E M BERB N BATRHE) - ZEBUF
B NEEMBENEREERERFRA(AIE201845
RREH10FR)#H -

BRSBIEBUR MBI IEREN RS
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. ;T ERITER
2022 2021
20226 2015
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum Maturity HK$'000 annum Maturity HK$'000
ERERE HHA TERL ERERX L= TAT
Current ENER
Bank loans - unsecured (note (a)) RITER - EER(F3E) 3.4% On demand 5,347 3.0% On demand 9,347
Bank loans - secured (note (b)fil)  FTEF - EHMB(HEEDI) - - - 5.3% 2022 633
20224
Bank loans - secured (note (b)(i))  BITEF —HHEB(HEEDI) 25%  Ondemand 2,930 2.5% On demand 3,642
Bank loans - secured (note (bjfiil)  $R4TE R —BEM(H b)) 48%  Ondemand 8,000 - - -
Bank loans - secured (note (bl(iv)  S4TER—BEM(HzE(b)(v) 5.8% 2023 1,588 - - -
20235
17,865 13,622
Non-current L
Bank loan - secured (note (b)(iv)) BIER-FHEAHEOIV) 5.8% 2025 3,017 = = =
20255
20,882 13,622
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Analysed into: DA -
Bank loans repayable: EERIRITER :
Within one year or on demand —FRAFIREK 17,865 13,622
In the second year F_F 1,686 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFERF(BEER
M) 1,331 -
20,882 13,622
Notes: B3k -
(a) The bank loans are guaranteed by unlimited corporate guarantees given by the (a) SRITERTIBEARFNR20224 K2021F12A31B4F

Company as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(b) (i)  The bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net book value of
approximately HK$5,172,000 at the end of the reporting period as detailed in
note 14 to the financial statements.

(i) The key management insurance contract with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$5,803,000 (2021: HK$5,599,000) was pledged to secure the
bank loans granted to the Group.

(ili)  The bank loans are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to HK$4,021,000 and the corporate guarantee of the Company.

(iv)  The bank loans are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group's time deposits

amounting to HK$10,117,000.

(c) Except for certain bank loan which is denominated in United States dollars, all
borrowings were in Hong Kong dollars as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

(c)

AR A R ERATHER

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

AN SRR F AR AL - ZIRITE KT AR
& AR AR EDFE 40 55,172,00078 7T K IR 55 e b 25
I -

i 1A {81 495,803,000 7T (2021 £ : 5,599,000/%
TNEEERABRBENSIER  UESET
ANEE 2 RITER ©

ZROBRDAAKEER 2 EFTEHER
4,021,000 T IA R AR RIRRE 2 A RBRME
R

ZROTERDARNEEERZE T EHER
10,117,000 TTATHELR ©

BRE T AETAHEMIRITERIN - K2022F %2021F
12R31 BRI B BRI UETE -
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 25.

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based
on the maturity terms of the bank loans, the amounts repayable
in respect of the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings were

analysed as follows:

st ESRITERR(4E)

WERMEIR ERERBEFNO P EBARIFRTE
R BIHERSR - REEF S RITERZ EE
BERBEDTAT

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
202212H31H 2021412H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: EERBRITER ¢
Within one year —FR 13,826 5,339
In the second year E_F 4,202 4,242
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEFRF
(BREERME) 2,854 4,041
20,882 13,622
26. DEFERRED TAX 26. ELEFIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: BETHIBAEZEHOT -
Deferred tax liabilities BB IEEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
IR IETE
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A1 H 1,124
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRFTAGLEBRERN
statement of profit or loss during the ERERTE (FMHaE11)
year (note 11) (81)
Exchange realignment TE 5 A= (4)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 #R2021F12 A31H K 20221 818 1,039
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE — K B A A 319
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FREGABRRIBRN
statement of profit or loss during the EER TR (FERE11)
year (note 11) 1,801
Exchange realignment IE 5 AR (59)
At 31 December 2022 1202212 A431H 3,100

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2022 FERSE
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 26. ELEFIE(E)
Deferred tax assets IEEFRRIBEEE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future Lease
taxable profits liabilities Others Total
EEED:
ARRERBEF
MR HEEE Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THEL T THET
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 - 402 - 402
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated &Rzt Akz & B K MELHIE
statement of profit or loss during the (Bsx11)
year (note 11) - 5 - 5

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 720215128318 %
20221818 = 407 - 407
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FERA/ (BB )GABHERN
consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ JEIERIIE(HIEE11)

during the year (note 11) 1,482 (5) 102 1,579
At 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31H 1,482 402 102 1,986
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MEYMES BT EERBEBEEREGEENE
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following FEMROR R RIS o NEBIEMBRERENE

is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial ERIELEH DT -

reporting purposes:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE F AR R ERH
consolidated statement of financial position EREFRIBE EF5E 504 407
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE T AR N R ERH
consolidated statement of financial position EERTEAEFEE (1,618) (1,039)
(1,114) (632)
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 26. EFERLIBE(E)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

The Group estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$54,404,000 (2021: HK$47,888,000). Unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and certain foreign operations of approximately
HK$13,645,000 (2021: HK$10,725,000) are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

The Group estimated tax losses arising from certain foreign
operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate amount of
HK$40,759,000 (2021: HK$37,163,000) that will expire in five years
to twenty years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and in the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China (2021: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with the investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
HK$29,145,000 (2021: HK$16,428,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

EERIREE ()

ANER B ET AR MR R TA B 18 4954,404,0007%8 7T
(20214 :47,888,000/87C) - REBNETE
HINZETSEE A W AR TSR T IE B 18 4913,645,00078
Jt(20214F : 10,725,000/ 7T ) A] £ R HA A DA 4K
EEEZSHEIBNAR ZARKERFEF

REBEFELEETBININE T HINEE
ZTIEEIEA £/540,759,000/8 7T (20214 -
37,163,000/ 7T) * ZEHEEBEBBERAFE
—+EREE - DTAREEEEZSEENA
Al Z AR ERT R A o

BEERR HRAHEBRDELBEREEL
BE-BREENMNBLAR  MEFERREARARK
FERR Bt g A BT (PR VR R S IR IS R A0 T BE 1R
R BT ERZEBEERRLERAEE

BEAE BLAE P B A AR M FE AN B N AN £ [
B A Rl AR IE (S B b 2 FE AN TE TR i 1 SRR
ERIE(2021F : ) - EFERA - EA B
R ZEWBRABTAAIEDREZS A © 4
RAERELEHHEABERFRERLHBRRIRE
R E R =58 A £ 529,145,00058 7T (20214 -
16,428,000/ 7T) °

ARE AR R SREAEHTZE -
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31 December 2022
2022F12H31H

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BB
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
2817
RHEE PR AR
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 7R2021F1 818 20214
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 128318 * 202241 A1H
2022912 H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
2817
RHEE fR 7S
HK$'000
FHET
Issued and fully paid: BETREAR :
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 1 #R2021F1 818 » 20214F
January 2022 and 31 December 2022 128318 * 202241818
$%2022412H318 2,000,000,000 20,000
Share options BERR A
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the BN R ERRESZ RIB R 2 R T ERES B EH AN
scheme are included in note 28 to the financial statements. BRHIE28 o
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BRETE

A share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Unless
terminated by the Company by resolution in general meeting, the
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (“Shares”) under
the Scheme: (a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director), consultants
or advisers of, or, to the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any
entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds an
equity interest (collectively, the Company, any of the subsidiaries or
the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant Parties”); (b)
any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services to, any customer
of and any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to, the Relevant Parties; and (c) any
Shareholders or any shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant
Parties. For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted
to any company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No options may be granted under any schemes
of the Company or the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will
result in the maximum number being exceeded. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (i.e.
200,000,000 as at the date of this annual report). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other schemes will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares then in issue. Any further grant of the Options in
excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. Each grant of option under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, any grant of option under the Scheme to a
substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue
at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

ANATR202092 A21 B #E /8 R IR AT
E([Zat8)) - eI E MERB AT
MENKEN2HEERHERE  (FAEEASE
E{EH BB EEI K E 3R o BRIEADBRIRR
AEELURBRANKRIL - ZaTElEE%BEH
BET0FERHERE G -

EEM2RBBEREEBEN T2 EERHINE
] AT AERE - ARBZA R THAR
At (RG] : @ARR -~ EEFAKMER
ASARBREFHREBRENEAER([RE
ERDNEAREEXBEER (THREBERE
B BREEARTES)  BREIHEAAER
A EARBARKKREERGES [BRA
T RbEEALNERMIERTES(REE
BIUEMITES)  EMEMIRBHER -
EREP REMAEBALTREHE - R
Hp TSR EM AL HER © R (cEMK
Rk AT 2 7 B IR IR ST IR A B B =X
BRALBRTNEMNB S ZEFRFAA - i
sHEIfME - BRI TEN Ll (28
BRI — B ERALT 2 EERHERMAF -

BIE T8 R A S BT H b E AR 2R
RETE M ARITEBREMZFITHNRG RS E
AHTERBBANTIEDBEITRAZ30% °
WAEBAREEESBESESEE @ BT RE
RATRAR BB AR T2 ER
HE o RIB LT R AR D BE] A s 2R T
/Y BT 5 B A% 4 78 77 {50 1 A RE B 1T MU AR 1D AR £k
TEBBEBEITRMDEI10% (RAELR B HED
200,000,000%) - BErE10%BREM S * 1B
ez At 8 ok A () E At 5 B A9 IR 2K 2 B AR
EETETEEN -

BIEZT 8 R A B E B ETE (R
BEAERMRITEMNBRE) REOERE
AR RERETT (18 PME 1218 B RS A A & 2 B
BEITREEITHRMDBEISBRAERFD %
TRIRDEIN% - E— R FERBBLRREZ
BRI AR SR E AR RS FibE - BIEZ
SEAES TETRABREEZRRSET
Al B B A\ B8R H BE AR A Y B B T8 S JE 3
TEESRIAEBRTIEE - 1IN BRIBEZET
BIRAMEARI 121 B HARE 7 2 2% R ok BB 3 AT
EERHAMBEARDBERNERRENE
BITRMEN0.1% kA EE (ERARARBRMDHR
B HEIR B4 ) 8385,000,000/8 7T 2 E (] &
RRIE BB ESNRE ARG E A ER A A
{E& o
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be
held, any performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance
with the Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be a business
day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

28. BBRAEREI ()

S2EET BRHERIES HiE528 0 AR KE
IRHE - BRI EER L BIRAER A 2B E
EELBAFEREENREHME - AV EE
BRI B R R B T 1T R B LR E R
EOEART EL A IR 1 o

RIR LT 8133 H A (T B AL HE AR BR IR 1D O AR B
BEHESS2RMNBEET (UREZTEIE
EEMARE)  HZEERTEERTIEEN
e - (RORBERLEREAH(MER
EEA(EEREWRA) AT A @A E5H
RSB RERAROFHRHE : ()RHR
REBREAR(MWERLEB (TR LHRE
D) B R P BRERARUEHTE - Kiii)
BOEEE - ZERBHEBRESORAEINR
81.00% 7T °

BREETE TRHAEABKBRSHNERAE £
REAER -

VAT A R AT 818 T 4F A3 1) AR 1T 1682 O R A

2022 2021
2022%F 20215
Weighted Weighted

average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options

IETTHEE BREHSE  METHTERE BREHE

HKS per share ‘000 HK$ per share ‘000

BRET T4 BRET T4

At 1 January R1A1H 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000
Granted during the year RERR L - - - -
At 31 December ®12A31H 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000

No share options were exercised during the years of 2022 and 2021.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

28. BBRAERTEI ()

R E R ARITE R B RETTEE R ITEH

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: R
2022 2022
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BIREHE THEE* ITEHR
‘000 HK$ per share
Tt FRBT
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21%14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25
2,000
2021 20214
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE TEE" 1715
‘000 HK$ per share
AR BRET
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21% 14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25
2,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights w it o 35t A SR AT A% 3% 1T sk AR A B AR AN 3R L i 2B DL

or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year of 2020
was HK$50,000 (HK$0.025 each) of which the Group recognised a
share option expense of HK$7,000 (2021: HK$27,000) during the

year ended 31 December 2022.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year of 2020 was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the

B ABARENTTRERTHE -

R 20204 € 1% BB AR 7 /9 2 (B A50,0007%
TT(&10.02587T) + ERAREBEREE£2022
F12A31 0 I FEERERER7,0005 7T

(20214 : 27,000 7T) °

MN2020F EER B A ZEBRER A F
ETREL B BAER —EHREEEES - W
E R HBEREO SRR R REE - TRH
SRR P E MR B AE

model used:

2020

20204

Spot price (HK$) REE(ET) 0.055
Exercise price (HK$) TEEGET) 0.057
Dividend yield (%) A% S B3R (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 BRI (%) 56.65
Risk-free interest rate (%) @B 2 (%) 0.18
Exercise multiple TEEE 2.8
Expected life of options (years) MR ETRET B (5 ) 5
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28.

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 2,000,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$20,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 2,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 57 of the financial statements.

(a) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid-
up share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the
Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2022
and 2021 mainly represented the deemed distribution to the
Controlling Shareholders by issuance of the Company’s shares
pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(b) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

(c) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration paid for the
Reorganisation.
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 6 May 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Print100
Limited from an independent third party. Print100 Limited is engaged

30. ¥4t

in business of printing. The acquisition was made to expand and RATINREL

diversify the Group's business scope. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with HK$5,000,000 paid

during the year.

202265 H6H - AREBE —HBILE=)
WEREREARAFNI00%KE - BREF

% - WBEEREEERIE

EASEMNEGSHE - WBEENRERE
5,000,000 TR FERE AR ST (T -

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Print100 RERE - EREBRARMNAZANEE R
Limited as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEANAFEELT :

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

g 13

RN A TE

HK$'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment LE N 844
Right-of-use assets FEHEEE 285
Other intangible assets HEihEREE 5,476

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATEFABENEMEE 91
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 230
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE - HRe R HE MY RIE 5,600
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFSEEY 75
Trade payables Z SR RIE (1,179)
Other payables and accruals HEt RN RIEREEA (1,238)
Bank overdrafts RITEX (965)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,060)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BERTTE K (3,101)
Deferred tax liabilities R IAAE (319)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEAFEIENA R FEERE 4,639

Goodwill on acquisition Wagrg & 361
Satisfied by Cash AR & 5,000
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary is as follows:

30. ¥B¥E56H(E&)

AR KE-—HRBARNRERED T
™

HK$'000

T

Cash consideration BERE (5,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrkiER e KRS EED 75
Bank overdrafts acquired B SR1TE (965)
(5,890)

Included in the goodwill of HK$361,000 recognised above is an
assembled workforce which is not recognised separately. It is
not separable and does not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset under HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

Since the acquisition, Print100 Limited contributed HK$8,510,000 to
the Group's revenue and a loss of HK$2,330,000 to the consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group for the year would
have been HK$411,147,000 and HK$10,958,000, respectively.
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

31. FEREREBRME

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) METBEENEBSE
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
HERITER HEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FAT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H 21,163 33,447
Changes from financing cash flows MERSR=EE) (7,541) (10,391)
New leases HHEE = 9,519
Termination of leases LIERE = (482)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from KA HHEARCOVID-1958F3
lessors HeE=R - (304)
Foreign exchange movement & & & 8 = 737
Interest expense B - 1,647
Interest paid classified as DEAMERSRENENAF
financing cash flows B = (1,647)
At 31 December 2021 and 2021412 318 k20224
1 January 2022 1H1H 13,622 32,526
Changes from financing cash flows MEBRS RS 4,159 (10,891)
New leases HHEE - 10,175
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) UeBE —FRET B A | (MI5E30) 3,101 1,060
COVID-19-related rent concessions from K8 i A #ICOVID-1948 7
lessors HeER - (179)
Foreign exchange movement b 5, 2 ) - (2,503)
Interest expense AEFX - 1,734
Interest paid classified as DEARERCREN
financing cash flows EERAES) - (1,734)
At 31 December 2022 2022512 H31H 20,882 30,188

(b) Major non-cash transactions

Lease commencement recognition of HK$10,243,000 (2021:
HK$9,519,000) was included in right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities.

(b) TEZFRERS

#38(10,243,000/87T.(20214F : 9,519,000
BIL)MHEERIGERD T ACREEE

LHEERE -
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31. ZA B Hha R (£&)

(Continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENRSRHEEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FFABRSREANEERSROBRENT -

cash flows is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Within operating activities AL E TS 1,161 777
Within financing activities SAREEE 12,625 12,038
13,786 12,815
32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 32. EEIKM
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank loans are AREAEERITERMERNRNEEEEF
included in note 25 to the financial statements. 1B E P B TS R PT 5E25 ©
33. COMMITMENTS 33. RiE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RIBEEAR  AEEHA TEAREIE :
capital commitments:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Contracted, but not provided for: T4V B ARBAE -
Building BEY) 14,360 17,891
Plant and machinery R Rz 343 1,102
14,703 18,993
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BHAIRS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group AEBMETEZEEAEME
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’'s emoluments BEERFETBRAEMESHE —FFBEHNRY
are included in note 9 to the financial statements. ML ©
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P e e
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. RERESTHWEMITE
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRAFETA b7g: £1-ID %N
ERMEmEE TEMNEREE s
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK’000
FHET FHBT F#ET
2022 2022%F
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B S EIE - 42,923 42,923
Financial assets included in ATATEMFIE - ZEe Rk
prepayments, deposits and EibEBGRIEN B EE
other receivables - 14,474 14,474
Financial asset at fair value through  IZAF(EE AEzH
profit or loss SREE 5,803 - 5,803
Pledged deposits [EEwEE - 14,138 14,138
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY - 62,325 62,325
5,803 133,860 139,663
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAFETA R SE AR
BalemEE FTENeREE wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’'000
FHT FHET FHT
2021 20214
Financial assets SRIEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE = 53,692 53,692
Financial assets included in AENRE BEk
prepayments, deposits and HtbElan e & E
other receivables - 9,891 9,891
Financial asset at fair value through A EF AEZRE
profit or loss SREE 5,528 = 5,599
Cash and cash equivalents B MBEEEY - 102,101 102,101
5,599 165,684 171,283
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

35. HEHEOIMNERMTAE)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BEBHEAATTENEREE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Financial liabilities =N

Trade payables B SN FIE 53,572 55,763

Financial liabilities included in other payables and =+ A E 4th fE {3118 [ fe =1 &
accruals NEmaE 8,045 8,737
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITER 20,882 13,622
Lease liabilities HEAE 30,188 32,526
112,687 110,648

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount and fair value of the Group's financial
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

36. TR TENDFERAIFEER

AEESRTANKREENRR T E (AREE S
ANHESEBEEERINIAT

720225128 31H

Carrying
amount Fair value
BRMEE AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Financial asset SMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss ZAFEITABRNEREE 5,803 5,803
As at 31 December 2021 A2021%F12H831H
Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE ~FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHT
Financial asset SMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss IZAFE ABEHNESBHEAE G8598) 5,599
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 36. €I ENAFERAFEER(EZ

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables, and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and were assessed to approximate to their carrying
amounts. The Group’'s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was assessed to
be insignificant.

The fair value of a key management insurance contract classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is based on
the account value less surrender charge, quoted by the vendor. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related change in fair value, which is
recorded in profit or loss, is reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

BEEENG R MBRLFEY SEMTF
KRB D - BHERMKIE - FFATRNK
B BehEMEKRSENEREE  HIE
MAREA R ARMENFIELEFERNS
BABEZATEREREERS  DEEHR
ZET RIS RBIEME °

AEENMBEERENVRAIIEEEES
MITAZATEFENBRRERIZR - MEERE
HERAPBREREZZEGHE - NEWMS

EfEMANEZEGAE - HERMBRES
BNt - WHRERE S @SFMA PR
FEPBREHNEERERERETIR

CREERBENATAEKREME S (58850
BREERINEEMR S THAI REZTE
WERAR - T AERBEARMEGT AT
H :

FERBERREMEMTE  HEAERTE
BITEROAFEDNRERERLUER - 28
R R TEEE T A B AT SR =i
TEHARESREANE W HAREKRE
A o NEER2022F K%2021F12 A31HH
FHEBRITERTBARRIETESTERX °

DRRBRATEFABSZEREENTIEE
BEABRBANZAFEDERKS BEME
RER(AHERRE)TE - EZHE - K
MERMSH 2 @52 FEGEAGZS BB
AR ERRXATFEZEEZESHGIARR)BRA
B UARBRERR KRR EEE -
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 36. €I ENAFERAFEEBR(E)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

TERET©m T EBER2022F 22021612
A3MBZEANAIERG ABERTEEHXE

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022 and 2021: DITBEE :
Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair
technique unobservable input Value value to the input
AT EEE AR
HEHNT BATAUEBRREAEB HE ZHRE
Key management insurance N/A  Account values HK$6,812,000 5% (2021: 5%)
contract classified as a TEHA KRFEE 6,812,000/ 7T increase (decrease)
financial asset at fair value (2021: in account values
through profit or loss HK$6,665,000) would result in
DERBAFEFABR ISR (20214 : increase (decrease)

BENTEEEABRBREL
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6,665,000/ 7T)

Surrender charge HK$1,009,000
RREA 1,009,000/ 7T
(2021:

HK$1,066,000)

(20214 -

1,066,000/ 7T)

in fair value by
HK$341,000
(2021: HK$333,000)
IREEELEFACTEE)
5% (20214 : 5%)
#EH N TE
("FF%)341,000/8 7T
(20214 : 333,000
BIT)

5% (2021: 5%)
increase (decrease)
in surrender charge
would result in
increase (decrease)
in fair value by
HK$50,000
(2021: HK$53,000)

RREBALEACTEE)
5% (20214 : 5% )
HEHNTE LA
("FF%)50,00075 7T
(20214 : 53,000
AIT)
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's financial instruments:

Asset measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

36. eI ENATFERLOFEER(Z)

DNFEBR

TREAAEESHTAZAFEFEER

BAFEAEZEE -
7"2022512831H

Fair value measurement using

FTEAFEEER
Quoted
prices in  Significant  Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
AERME  EAAUERE BATAEE
ZHE WAE [IPNE]
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(ZE14R) (%524%) (%834%) P
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FE T
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABRY
through profit or loss SRUEE - - 5,803 5,803
As at 31 December 2021 72021%12831H
Fair value measurement using
FEATERER
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RERMS  ERIER SEATAEHR
Z$R1E /i AE B AE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E14R) (F24%) (Z38%) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET FHT
Financial asset at fair value RAFEFABZN
through profit or loss SRMEE - - 5,599 5,599
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36.

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Asset measured at fair value: (Continued)

The movement in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the
year are as follows:

36.

EMITANQIFERAFEERGE)

H
>
T

BMAMAFETERSIT ¢

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

At 1 January R1A18 5,599 5,404
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) W g — Al B8 2 /) (M9 3E30) 91 =
Disposals = (85) -
Total gains recognised in profit or loss R8BS FERRI U 25 4258 198 195
At 31 December W12H831H 5,803 5,599

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, an
amount due from the ultimate holding company, balances with
directors, trade payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong
dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (arising from Renminbi denominated
financial instruments) and the Group’s equity.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 37. iEMREEEERBEK(E

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SNEE LR (42)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
EREH RRBE B F eI M,
(T B&) 2 ORi2) ORLA ) *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHBT
As at 31 December 2022 7R2022F12H31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ WMAREEETTERE 5 (1,846) =
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R H &t FHAE (5) 1,846 _
As at 31 December 2021 720215128318
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ i A RHE S BT E 5 (1,740) =
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R # 5,38 70 FHE (5) 1,740 =

* Excluding retained profits
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group's borrowings are disclosed in note 25 to the financial
statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

* TRERBRER

7 £ (8 T B 0 T 355 1) R A B L i 3 2 LK R [
BEBERTTERER - AEBERNF X RE
BRI SRR M 26 FE - AEBEABK
DREERFRREENEX - BEEERENX
B - R A R K E B E XA K E

B o

TRIAN RS HRERA H Mo A & ERER
TERNBERT  AEBEHERHRADERN (ERY
FRAETRNZE) RS2 A] LB HUR

JE o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

37. UEEREEEEREEK(E)

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FIZ=E Rz ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
=B EH R %56 A 7
(%) ®hn, O
HK$'000
T
As at 31 December 2022 720229128318
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (209)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 209
As at 31 December 2021 7M2021%12H831H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (136)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 136

The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables held constant, had no impact on the Group's equity
excluding retained profits for the years ended 31 December 2022

and 2021.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established customers
will be considered for open account terms and the approval of credit
terms is subject to stringent credit check procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the

Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

37. YHEREEBRBERBEEK(E

Credit risk (Continued) SERk (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

for financial assets.

ERAJE 2 R F K BR

TREIM2ANAERAEEEERR (X
2RFBHERGE - BRIFEMERBARNH
THBRERAREZNANTES) NEEERRE
REERBMOARFERERDE - TIEHR
REMEEZREAE -

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
REEERR 2HRNEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1ERR EER H3EER [l A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TR T THER THR THT
As at 31 December 2022 #2022%12631H
Trade receivables* B ZREWzUE* - - - 43,777 43,771
Financial assets included in FTABRFE RER
prepayments, deposits and H NI
other receivables** eREE 14,474 - - - 14,474
Financial asset at fair value BATEFABENEREE
through profit or loss 5,803 - - - 5,803
Pledged deposits BEBER 14,138 - - - 14,138
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEN 62,325 - - = 62,325
96,740 - - 43,771 140,517
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 37. BifSEMEEBERBE (&
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =ERK(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) AR ] F KB ER (48 )
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
BEEERE S HRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB EYLL ERlT [l it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THx TR THL BT
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12A318
Trade receivables* 2 SRelzoat - - - 53,895 53,895
Financial assets included in FSTABAFE BER
prepayments, deposits and H I
other receivables** CRAE 9,891 = - - 9,891
Financial asset at fair value BATES AN ERRNEREE
through profit or loss 5,599 - - - 5,599
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRLEEN 102,101 - - - 102,101
117,591 - - 53,895 171,486

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the

financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due or there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk

since initial recognition.

Credit risk concentration

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables in terms of the
following percentages were due from the Group’s largest external
customer and the Group's five largest external customers out of the

Group's total trade receivables:

* BAKEEAMEAETRENE ZRKERNE
E R BEAE R A B R B B R T RE 204088 -

= FAEMRE  ReRAGEEFENERAEZER
HERARBRIYBRENERAZSTEREESVIER
REERRBEEMEERS [ER] -

FERRSES

HRAEEEZRTRAREERIFNE=TR
5 HEFEER ARBEAEETEESTR
@ DHARATESERKRFIBEAEEE 5 E
Wk HARFRE A D L TR AR B RAIMNER P

Due from the Group's largest external customer
Due from the Group's five largest external

customers

RAKERARINBESER
2022 2021
20225 20214
% %
FEU AN SR B S A HMNED 2R P 5R0R 10 14

FEW A SR B L ASMNED R P IR

20 24
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and funds
generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual and undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

37. YHEREEBRBERBEEK(E

MENE & E 2

AEEERAEEERDESHRE TAEEES
SRRER ZTAFREESRTANSRE
EMENIIHBEARBALLERSRSRE

AEEW B BERBBERRITERRLERS
e EESZARBUEREEE ZMRET
g -

AEERBREPRER GO RABRN TN
MAGEIHARLT

Less than 3 to less than More than
On demand 3 months 12 months  1to 5 years 5 years Total
RER DR3ER 3Z12BAUT 125% L2 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
As at 31 December 2022 #2022%12631H
Trade payables 2 SERTR - 53,572 - - - 53,572
Financial liabilities included in STARMERFER
other payables and accruals EAERANCRAR 7 8,038 - - = 8,045
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 58RI 17,059 454 1,363 1,817 1,363 22,056
Lease liabilities HE&E - 3,448 8,961 22,302 2,637 37,348
17,066 65,512 10,324 24,119 4,000 121,021
As at 31 December 2021 #2021%12631A
Trade payables BHRMATE - 55,763 - = = 55,763
Financial liabilities included in AL ENTER
other payables and accruals EERNEREAR 120 8,617 - - - 8,737
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  ESIRITER 12,988 480 160 - - 13,628
Lease liabilities HEaE - 3,603 6,917 25,952 2,815 39,287
13,108 68,463 7,077 25,952 2,815 117,415

The Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand clause in the
amount of HK$17,059,000 (2021: HK$12,988,000) were repayable
after one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The loan
agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the amount
is classified as “on demand”.

AN & B A 217,059,000 7 JT ( 2021 F :
12,988,000 7t ) M 5 1% 22 Sk {8 32 6k 51 B9 TE 3
EFRBEEEERNKIAEAR —FREE - B
KB SIRERERIEK - ZIEK FIRIT
AR R EEREEZEROES - Bt - 5
FEBEARREME BRREESEA[RE
ke
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
the loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of this
report; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2022, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$14,865,000
due within one year, HK$4,491,000 due in the second year, and
HK$3,191,000 due beyond two years.

As at 31 December 2021, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$5,707,000
due within one year, HK$4,495,000 due in the second year, and
HK$4,503,000 due after two years.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices
and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to
market price risk arising from key management insurance contracts
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note
18) as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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N AREHEFRENARBR  REHR
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yom
B o

R2022F12A31H @ RBEZRER > R—F
NE| B A # AR BE IR 30A 14,865,000 7T -
RE —FF|HH 54,491,000/ 7T © R F A
%229 A3,191,00058 7T °

1K2021F 128318  REBEERER  R—F
NEIHAA S 4R BEIRF 5K A5,707,0005 7T -
RE —F 5 HH A4,495,0008 7T - RRF%E
Z|HAH) A4,503,00058 7T ©
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

37. BBEREEEBERBEE

(Continued)
Market price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change
in the fair values of the key management insurance contracts with
all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and
the Group's equity, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

miSERERE(E)

5 SR BT HLA A R A TR
T BEWE R BEE - ARERBA
FIRAEEERHEEERABRRA DN D
TEESREBHEEE -

Increase/
decrease in

Carrying profit before
amount tax
RS Al 7
IREE B, w
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2022 2022%F
Key management insurance contract DERRAFETA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BHENTEEEAS
through profit or loss REE L 5,803 290
Increase/
decrease in
Carrying profit before
amount tax
R A0 Al o A
BREE &0, mA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHBT
2021 20214
Key management insurance contract DERERNFERA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BalEZEEAS
through profit or loss REEX 5,599 280

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

ERER

FEFETEAERTIEE EREASENR
BICERET - URBRIR 3R & 4 55 & =1
BREEABEESKA

AEEEBREEAEEKARSEMR R EBNE
B - BESRAREALER  ASETAE
SHRBRMN TRENREFBRABRRRESL
AN o B E2022F K 202112831 BILEE -
EEEANERE  BERIBFIUELIRES -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  37.

(Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BREREEBERBEK(E

EXREE(E)

AEBEREERGL R (AVFEBRNAER
G

BB)ESRER - FEBEBABRITERK
HEEE - EREARRES ARG - 1

HBEMRNEERBLEMT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT BIRITIERK 20,882 13,622
Lease liabilities HEAE 30,188 32,526
Net debt FE 51,070 46,148
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KATHEE AR 239,260 249,666
Gearing ratio EEABHX 21.3% 18.5%

38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38. REHAKEE

On 24 February 2023, the Company entered into an investment
agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with the shareholders
of Primway S.A.R.L pursuant to which (i) the Company agreed to
subscribe for the 17 shares; and (ii) the shareholders agreed to
sell and the Company agreed to acquire the 9 shares, for a total
consideration of EUR1,095,000 (equivalent to HK$9,060,000). Upon
the completion, the Company shall hold 25% of Primway S.A.R.L.
Details of the subscription of shares and acquisition of shares in
Primway S.A.R.L are disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 24 February 2023.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2022 Annual Report

202342 A24 8 » &R & & Primway
SARLEBERITZEE S ([REHZE]) @ &
B ()RR RIR BB 7D (i) IR
EHE  MARFRBSREIRKSD - BRE
£1,095,000E 7T (48 & 749,060,000/ 7T ) ° 5¢
1% - ANQ B APrimway S.A.R.LE)I25% 1
% ° Primway S.A.R.LA& 1D 7R8E =18 K IR D Uk
BEEFBEENARAR A AR2023F2H24
BZRER -



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 39. AQ B MM K

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 FHT FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A AR E 201,488 201,488
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments SEERE S 363 309
Due from subsidiaries JE U Bt A R FR IR 72,760 72,814
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY 349 145
Total current assets MEVEELE 73,472 73,268
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HAub BB R IEHE A 7 65
Due to a subsidiary e — MM B A Bl 5E 1,925 2,049
Total current liabilities mEAEEE 1,996 2,114
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 71,476 71,154
Net assets BEFE 272,964 272,642
TOTAL EQUITY EmBEE
Share capital &N 27 20,000 20,000
Reserves (note) A ED) 252,964 252,642
Total equity G- E 272,964 272,642
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  39. A TR RE(42)

(Continued)
Note: B E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AABEEHENT -
Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRADRE BRAEE [rtE5E Mgt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHT FHT
At 1 January 2021 1®2021%F1 /818 277,051 8 (23,235) 253,824
Equity-settled share option arrangement IR 7S 4t 5 B AR e 2 - 27 - 27
Final dividend RERE = = (1,500) (1,500)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income 4 5% F & 5 A & E M 25 42 58
for the year - - 291 291
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 120214612 A31H k2022618118 277,051 35 (24,444) 252,642
Equity-settled share option arrangement IR 7 s 0 B i A 22 = 7 - 7
Final dividend RERR S - - (5,000) (5,000)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income 4 X3 F| & 4 9 2 I UK 25 44 58
for the year - - 5,315 5,315
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A318 277,051 42 (24,129) 252,964
40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 40. #EEB K IRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by BITS R R M 2023 F3 H30H EEE €8t MK
the board of directors on 30 March 2023. FETZE o
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